# Development of Biorelevant In Vitro Release Testing Methods for Periodontal Microparticles

by

# Stuti M. Desai

Bachelor of Pharmacy, Institute of Chemical Technology, 2017

Submitted to the Graduate Faculty of School of Pharmacy in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science

University of Pittsburgh

2019

# UNIVERSITY OF PITTSBURGH

# SCHOOL OF PHARMACY

This thesis/dissertation was presented

by

# Stuti M. Desai

It was defended on

March 21, 2019

and approved by

Dr. Lisa C. Rohan, Professor, Pharmaceutical Sciences

Dr. Vinayak Sant, Assistant Professor, Pharmaceutical Sciences

Dr. Sravan Kumar Patel, Instructor, Pharmaceutical Sciences

Thesis Advisor/Dissertation Director: Dr. Lisa C. Rohan, Professor, Pharmaceutical Sciences

Copyright © by Stuti M. Desai

2019

# Development of Biorelevant In Vitro Release Testing Methods for Periodontal Microparticles

Stuti M. Desai, B.Pharm

University of Pittsburgh, 2019

Dissolution testing is one of the primary methods employed not only as a quality control tool but also to evaluate bioequivalence and assess the effect of process and formulation parameters on drug release. Currently, there is no compendial-level method to assess dissolution of particulate systems administered in the periodontal pocket. Therefore, the goal of this work is to develop and demonstrate the utility of dissolution methods for microparticles applied in the periodontal pocket. Arestin<sup>®</sup>, a clinically used extended release periodontal system was used as the reference product. It is composed of poly(lactic-co-glycolic acid) (PLGA) microparticles loaded with an antibacterial drug, minocycline hydrochloride (MIN). Two methods were evaluated in this study. The first method utilized a standard USP IV apparatus modified to include a dialysis tube with dispersed microparticles, which was developed as a rapid screening method. In the second method, a novel apparatus was designed by our group to simulate the *in vivo* environment of the periodontal pocket. The applicability of these methods was evaluated by rigorously testing for reproducibility and discriminatory ability. To test the discriminatory ability of the developed methods, a panel of MINloaded PLGA microparticles that differed in composition and process conditions were utilized. The method utilizing the USP IV apparatus was equipped with online UV-analysis and was carried out at a flow rate of 10mL/min for 3 days. Microparticles that showed different dissolution profiles in this method were tested in the novel, more biorelevant small volume apparatus, which was designed to hold 250µL of gingival crevicular fluid simulant (sGCF), where the particles are

dispersed. sGCF was continuously delivered to the device at a biorelevant flow rate and collected daily for dug content analysis using a stability-indicating UPLC method. Both the developed methods could discriminate between Arestin® and the comparators. Release of MIN was largely dependent on molecular weight of PLGA used, with higher molecular weight showing higher release. The methods evaluated in this work can be used in routine quality control analysis to detect batch-to-batch variability. Future studies can evaluate the applicability of the developed methods to assess bioequivalence of MIN-loaded periodontal systems.

# **Table of Contents**

| Prefacexix  |
|---|
| 1.0 Introduction1   |
| 1.1 The Concept of Dissolution Testing1   |
| 1.1.1 Characteristics of an Ideal Dissolution Test                                |
| 1.1.2 Applications of Dissolution Testing   |
| 1.1.3 Role of Dissolution Testing in Assessing Bioavailability and Bioequivalence |
| 11  |
| 1.2 Development and Validation of Dissolution Methods15                           |
| 1.2.1 Types of Dissolution Testing Apparatus15                                    |
| 1.2.2 Types of Media Used for Dissolution Testing17                               |
| 1.2.3 Validation of Dissolution Methods19   |
| 1.3 Dissolution Testing of Micro/Nano-particulate Systems                         |
| 1.3.1 Sample-and-Separate Type Methods 20   |
| 1.3.2 Dialysis-Based Methods21  |
| 1.3.3 Continuous Flow Methods 22  |
| 1.4 Dissolution Testing of PLGA-based Micro-/Nanoparticles                        |
| 1.4.1 Mechanisms of Release from PLGA-based Systems                               |
| 1.4.2 Methods to Determine Drug-Release from PLGA-based Micro-                    |
| /Nanoparticles  |
| 2.0 Project Goal and Approach 30  |
| 2.1 Project Goal  |

| 2.2 Approach 31   |
|---|
| 2.2.1 Model Drug Product 31                                     |
| 2.2.2 Development of Comparators to Challenge Developed Methods |
| 2.2.3 Development of Dissolution Methods                        |
| 2.2.4 Development of Analytical Methods                         |
| 3.0 Materials and methods 40                                    |
| 3.1 Materials 40  |
| 3.2 Fabrication of MIN loaded PLGA Microparticles 40            |
| 3.3 Characterization of Prepared Comparators41                  |
| 3.4 Determination of Isosbestic Point 42                        |
| 3.5 Dissolution of Microparticles by USP IV Method43            |
| 3.6 Dissolution of Microparticles Using Small Volume Apparatus  |
| 3.7 UPLC Analysis of Minocycline Hydrochloride45                |
| 3.8 Statistical analysis 46                                     |
| 4.0 Results   |
| 4.1 Characterization of MIN loaded PLGA Microparticles          |
| 4.2 Determination of Isosbestic Point of MIN51                  |
| 4.3 Analysis of Samples using the USP IV Apparatus53            |
| 4.3.1 MIN Solution  |
| 4.3.2 Arestin <sup>®</sup>                                      |
| 4.3.3 Panel A Microparticles (Process Changes)                  |
| 4.3.4 Panel B Microparticles (Formulation Changes)              |
| 4.3.5 Method Reproducibility63                                  |

| 4.4 Analysis of Microparticles using the Small Volume Method    |  |
|---|--|
| 4.4.1 Analysis of MIN by UPLC                                   |  |
| 4.4.2 MIN solution  |  |
| 4.4.3 Arestin <sup>®</sup>                                      |  |
| 4.4.4 Panel B Microparticles (Formulation Changes)              |  |
| 4.4.5 Method Reproducibility                                    |  |
| 5.0 Discussion  |  |
| 5.1 Selection of Test Conditions for Dissolution Methods        |  |
| 5.2 Effect of Flow Rate on Drug Release                         |  |
| 5.3 Assessing the Discriminatory Potential of Developed Methods |  |
| 5.4 Dependence of Rate of Release on Microparticle Properties   |  |
| 5.5 Assessing the Reproducibility of the Methods                |  |
| 5.6 Impact of the Work and Potential Applications               |  |
| 5.7 Limitations of the Developed Methods                        |  |
| 6.0 Conclusion and Future Directions                            |  |
| Appendix A : Abbreviations Used                                 |  |
| Bibliography  |  |

# List of Tables

| Table 1. List of Official Dissolution Apparatus, their Properties and Applications [35] 16              |
|---|
| Table 2. Properties of Minocycline Hydrochloride [98]   |
| Table 3. Acceptance Criteria as per USP Monograph   |
| Table 4. Composition of GCF Simulant    38  |
| Table 5. Comparison between sGCF and human GCF [105]    38  |
| Table 6. Microparticles Differing in Process Parameters (Panel A)                                       |
| Table 7. Microparticles Differing in Formulation (Panel B)    41  |
| Table 8. Characteristics of Panel A Microparticles    48  |
| Table 9. Characteristics of Panel B Microparticles    49  |
| Table 10. Statistical Analysis of Dissolution Profiles of Panel A Microparticles. Numbers in bold       |
| denote values which are within limits ( $f1 < 15, f2 > 50$ )  |
| Table 11. Characteristics of 85H Reproducibility Batches  |
| Table 12. Statistical Analysis of Dissolution Profiles of Multiple 85H Batches. Numbers in bold         |
| denote values which are within limits ( $f1 < 15, f2 > 50$ )  |
| Table 13. Statistical Analysis of Dissolution Profiles of Multiple Runs of Arestin®. Numbers in         |
| bold denote values which are within limits ( $f1 < 15, f2 > 50$ )                                       |
| Table 14. Statistical Analysis of Drug Release Profiles of Arestin® at 0.5 and 2 $\mu$ L/min Flow Rate. |
| Numbers in bold denote values which are within limits ( $f1 < 15, f2 > 50$ )                            |
| Table 15. Statistical Analysis of Dissolution Profiles of Multiple Runs of Arestin®. Numbers in         |
| bold denote values which are within limits ( $f1 < 15, f2 > 50$ )                                       |

# List of Figures

| Figure 1. Representative Figure Showing Dependence of Discriminatory Potential on Acceptance      |
|---|
| Criteria 6  |
| Figure 2. Illustration of criteria required to prove bioequivalence (Adapted from [27]). In this  |
| figure, The green lines are examples of bioequivalent formulae and red lines are examples of      |
| bioinequivalent formulae  |
| Figure 3. Illustration of Agitation Assemblies of USP Apparatuses. (A) Apparatus I – Basket, (B)  |
| Apparatus II - Paddle, (C) Apparatus III - Reciprocating cylinder, (D) Apparatus IV - Flow        |
| through cell, (E) Apparatus V – Paddle over disk, (F) Apparatus VI – Cylinder, (G) Apparatus VII  |
| – Reciprocating holders 17  |
| Figure 4. Overview of Approach Taken to Achieve Project Goal                                      |
| Figure 5. Differences between a healthy and inflamed periodontal pocket. Reproduced with          |
| permission [84]   |
| Figure 6. Structure of Minocycline Hydrochloride  |
| Figure 7. Images of the Small Volume Apparatus. (A) Inlet cap, (B) Outlet cap, (C) Outer chamber, |
| (D) Inner chamber with dialysis membrane, (E) Assembled device                                    |
| Figure 8. Schematic Representation of USP IV Dissolution Method                                   |
| Figure 9. Schematic Representation of (A) Dissolution Cell and (B) Set-up of Small Volume         |
| Method  |
| Figure 10. SEM Image of Arestin® Microparticles   |
| Figure 11. DSC Curve of Arestin® Microparticles. The light blue region represents the curve       |
| obtained during the first and second heat-cool cycle. The dark blue curve was obtained during the |

second heating cyle and was used for calculating Tg. The peaks at the end of the chromatogram Figure 12. Determination of Isosbestic Region. MIN samples in 0.1% sodium azide in PBS (25  $\mu$ g/mL) were kept at 37°C under mild shaking for a period of 5 days. Samples were collected daily and their UV spectra were obtained. All UV spectra showed almost constant absorbance in the region between 276 - 312 nm. This region is called the isosbestic region. A wavelength of 292 Figure 13. Overlay of Calibration Curves of MIN  $(0.5 - 50 \,\mu\text{g/mL} \text{ in } 0.1\% \text{ sodium azide in PBS})$ used for E11 Calculation at 292 nm. The E11 values were calculated on different days and using different lots of dissolution media. The average E11 values was found to be 258.62, with a relative Figure 14. Release of Minocycline Solution in USP IV Method. MIN solution (1 mg/mL) was added to Float-A-Lyzer® dialysis devices of 50 kDa MWCO. The dialysis devices were inserted in USP IV flow-through cells and incubated at 37°C. Dissolution cells were subjected to a continous flow of 0.1% sodium azide in PBS at 10 mL/min for a period of 3 days. At predetermined intervals, samples were analyzed by an online UV-Vis spectrophotometer at isosbestic point. Results are presented as Mean  $\pm$  SD of n=5 samples. Complete release of MIN was observed within Figure 15. Drug Release of Arestin® Microparticles from USP IV Method. Two units of Arestin® were added to Float-A-Lyzer® dialysis devices of 50 kDa MWCO. The dialysis devices were inserted in USP IV flow-through cells and incubated at 37°C. Dissolution cells were subjected to a continous flow of 0.1% sodium azide in PBS at 10 mL/min for a period of 3 days. At predetermined intervals, samples were analyzed by an online UV-Vis spectrophotometer at isosbestic point. Results are presented as Mean  $\pm$  SD of n=3 samples. About 85 % MIN releases Figure 16. Drug Release Profiles of Panel A Microparticles (Process Changes) Obtained Using USP IV Method. About 10 mg of microparticles were added to Float-A-Lyzer® dialysis devices of 50 kDa MWCO. The dialysis devices were inserted in USP IV flow-through cells and incubated at 37°C. Dissolution cells were subjected to a continous flow of 0.1% sodium azide in PBS at 10 mL/min for a period of 3 days. At predetermined intervals, samples were analyzed by an online UV-Vis spectrophotometer at isosbestic point. Results are presented as Mean  $\pm$  SD of n=3 samples. The USP IV method could successfully discriminate between microparticles of Panel A. ...... 57 Figure 17. Drug Release Profiles of Panel A Microparticles Normalized to Total Drug Released. Drug release profiles of Panel A microparticles (process changes) that were obtained using the USP IV apparatus were normalized to the total amount of MIN released over a period of 3 days. Normalization was carried out to understand the way in which MIN releases from the microparticles. Results are reported as Mean  $\pm$  SD of n=3 samples. A basic comparison of dissolution profiles suggests that increase in stir rate causes an increase in burst release from microparticles (as for microparticles 0.025H and 0.05H) while reducing stir rate causes a more sustained release (0.0625M and 0.1L). 59 Figure 18. Dissolution Profiles of Panel B Microparticles (Formulation Changes) Obtained Using USP IV Method. About 10 mg of microparticles were added to Float-A-Lyzer® dialysis devices of 50 kDa MWCO. The dialysis devices were inserted in USP IV flow-through cells and incubated at 37°C. Dissolution cells were subjected to a continous flow of 0.1% sodium azide in PBS at 10 mL/min for a period of 3 days. At predetermined intervals, samples were analyzed by an online

UV-Vis spectrophotometer at isosbestic point. Results are presented as Mean  $\pm$  SD of n=3 samples. The USP IV method could successfully discriminate between microparticles of Panel B. ...... 60 Figure 19. Dissolution Profiles of Multiple Batches of 85H. About 10 mg of microparticles were added to Float-A-Lyzer® dialysis devices of 50 kDa MWCO. The dialysis devices were inserted in USP IV flow-through cells and incubated at 37°C. Dissolution cells were subjected to a continous flow of 0.1% sodium azide in PBS at 10 mL/min for a period of 3 days. At predetermined intervals, samples were analyzed by an online UV-Vis spectrophotometer at isosbestic point. Results are presented as Mean  $\pm$  SD of n=3 samples. The microparticles showed lot-to-lot Figure 20. Overlay of Dissolution Profiles of Three Arestin® Runs. Two units of Arestin® were added to Float-A-Lyzer® dialysis devices of 50 kDa MWCO. The dialysis devices were inserted in USP IV flow-through cells and incubated at 37°C. Dissolution cells were subjected to a continous flow of 0.1% sodium azide in PBS at 10 mL/min for a period of 3 days. At predetermined intervals, samples were analyzed by an online UV-Vis spectrophotometer at isosbestic point. Results are presented as Mean  $\pm$  SD of n=3 samples of 3 individual runs of Arestin®. All three Figure 23. Effect of Flow Rate on Release of Minocycline Solution from Small Volume Method. Two-hundred and fifty microliters of MIN solution (2 mg/mL in sGCF) was added to dialysis enclosures of 50 kDa MWCO. The dialysis enclosure was incubated at 37°C and subjected to continous flow of sGCF at 0.5, 2 or 10 µL/min. Samples were collected at regular intervals and analyzed for MIN content by a UPLC-based assay. Results are presented as Mean  $\pm$  SD of n=4

samples. Increase in flow rate increases the rate of release of MIN from the dialysis enclosure, indicating that the release of MIN depends on the concentration gradient and is not affected by the Figure 24. Drug Release from Arestin® Obtained by Small Volume Method. One unit of Arestin® was dispersed in 250 µL of sGCF in dialysis enclosures of 50 kDa MWCO. The dialysis enclosure was incubated at 37°C and subjected to continous flow of sGCF at 0.5 µL/min. Samples were collected daily and analyzed for MIN content by a UPLC-based assay. Results are presented as Mean  $\pm$  SD of n=4 samples. A fairly constant release is observed during the initial 5 days, after Figure 25. Drug Release from Arestin® in Small Volume Method at Different Flow Rates. One unit of Arestin® was dispersed in 250 µL of sGCF in dialysis enclosures of 50 kDa MWCO. The dialysis enclosure was incubated at 37°C and subjected to continous flow of sGCF at 0.5 or 2 µL/min. Samples were collected daily and analyzed for MIN content by a UPLC-based assay. Results are presented as Mean  $\pm$  SD of n=4 samples. The release of Arestin® is fairly constant Figure 26. Fitting of Polynomial Trendline to Obtained Drug Release Profiles of Arestin®. The dissolution profiles of Arestin® obtained using flow rates of 0.5 and 2 µL/min were acquired at different timepoints. Similar timepoints are required in order to calculate  $f_1$  and  $f_2$  values to compare the dissolution profiles. Thus, the profiles were fitted onto polynomial curves and % dissolved values at pre-determines timepoints were estimated. These estimated values were used Figure 27. Drug Release Profiles of Panel B Microparticles (Formulation Chnages) Obtained Using Small Volume Method. Around 10 mg of microparticles were dispersed in 250 µL of sGCF in dialysis enclosures of 50 kDa MWCO. The dialysis enclosure was incubated at 37°C and subjected to continous flow of sGCF at 0.5  $\mu$ L/min. Samples were collected daily and analyzed for MIN content by a UPLC-based assay. Results are presented as Mean ± SD of n=4 samples. The biorelevant method could successfully discriminate between microparticles of Panel B. The rank order of release from microparticles is constant between the USP IV and biorelevant methods.

| 71     |
|--------|
| <br>/1 |
|        |

Figure 28. Dissolution Profiles of three Arestin® Runs Obtained Using Small Volume Method. One unit of Arestin® was dispersed in 250 µL of sGCF in dialysis enclosures of 50 kDa MWCO. The dialysis enclosure was incubated at 37°C and subjected to continous flow of sGCF at 0.5 µL/min. Samples were collected daily and analyzed for MIN content by a UPLC-based assay. Results are presented as Mean ± SD of n=4 samples of 3 individual runs of Arestin® microparticles. Runs #2 and #3 were similar to each other and different to run #1. The differences Figure 29. (A) Sites of Interaction between MIN and PLGA and (B) Flow Chart Explaining the Figure 30. Normalized Dissolution Profiles of 85H Repeatability Batches. Drug release profiles of various batches of 85H microparticles were normalized to the total amount release in order to eliminate batch-to-batch differences between the microparticles. After normalization, the release profiles were found to be  $f^{1/f^{2}}$  similar to each other, indicating that the differences between Figure 31. Normalized Dissolution Profiles of the Three Arestin® Small Volume Runs. Drug release profiles of three individual Arestin® runs carried out using the biorelevant method were normalized to the total amount released. Normalization was done in order to eliminate batch-to

# List of Equations

| Equation 1. Noyes-Whitney equation                | .2 |
|---|----|
| Equation 2. Fick's First Law of Diffusion         | .2 |
| Equation 3. Tolloczko-Brunner Equation            | .3 |
| Equation 4. Nernst-Brunner Equation               | .3 |
| Equation 5. Derivation of Hixson-Crowell Equation | .4 |
| Equation 6. Hixson-Crowell Equation               | .4 |
| Equation 7. Calculation of <i>f</i> 1 Statistic   | .9 |
| Equation 8. Calculation of <i>f</i> 2 Statistic   | .9 |

## Preface

The work described in this thesis is a part of a collaborative work under grant 1U01FD005447-01, funded by the United States FDA. The views presented in this thesis do not represent the views or policies of the FDA.

I would like to extend my sincere gratitude to my dissertation advisor, Dr. Lisa C. Rohan for giving me the opportunity to work on this innovative project. Her unwavering support and encouragement made me confident to present the work at a local conference, a rare opportunity at Masters' level. I was very fortunate (and grateful) to have gotten the opportunity to work under a professor who looked out for my well-being even outside the laboratory.

I would also like to thank Dr. Sravan Kumar Patel for his relentless support and guidance throughout my Masters' training. He trained me on all the methods required for this project and was kind enough to go a step beyond and strengthen my scientific foundation. His mentorship was instrumental in completion of this dissertation.

I would like to thank Dr. Vinayak Sant for serving in my dissertation committee and giving his invaluable advice not only during my thesis but also during the entire course of the project.

I would like to thank Ms. Ashlee C. Greene for designing and fabricating the microparticles, Ms. Iman Taj Basha for training me on the methods involved and Mr. James Scott Macpherson for manufacturing the small volume devices used in this work. I would like to take this opportunity to thank Mr. Mostafa Shehabeldin, Dr. Sam N. Rothstein, Dr. Charles S. Sfeir and Dr. Steven R. Little, our collaborators. I am grateful to Dr. Yuan Wang and everyone in the FDA team. The bi-monthly discussions held with all these personnel enriched my graduate training experience.

xix

I cannot thank all the members of Rohan Lab enough for their support. There has been a time during the past two years when I have troubled each one of the members and I am amazed by the help and guidance I have received. I truly cherish the bonds I have made with my lab-members. I would also like to thank Dr. Maggie Folan, Dr. Sam Poloyac, Ms. Lori Altenbaugh and all faculty and students at the University of Pittsburgh School of Pharmacy.

Finally, I would like to thank all my family and friends in the United States and back at home. I would like to thank my mother for being there and supporting me through every crest and trough. I would like to thank my father for encouraging me when I was dejected and being proud even at my slightest accomplishments. I would like to thank my sister for making me smile during the toughest of times! Thanks for trying to control my unhealthy habits and forcing me to exercise. I would like to thank Ms. Tanvi Shah for making the past two years a thousand times easier and more enjoyable. Thanks for all the times you pushed me and helped me in becoming a better person. I would like to thank all my friends and family members who have stood by me and believed in me. Thank you.

## **1.0 Introduction**

Dissolution is the process by which a solute in a solid, liquid or gaseous state dissolves in a solvent, yielding a solution [1]. In the pharmaceutical context, dissolution is the process by which the drug in a drug product dissolves in body fluids and becomes available for absorption. There are a variety of factors that affect the rate and extent of dissolution. Dissolution testing is a pivotal quality control test that assesses the impact of formulation and process variables on the drug product. In addition, dissolution testing has implications for better design of drug products and prediction of *in vivo* performance. This chapter discusses the concept of dissolution testing, followed by the applications of dissolution testing, development of dissolution methods and ultimately the currently used methods for dissolution testing of particulate systems.

#### **1.1 The Concept of Dissolution Testing**

The concept of dissolution testing was first explored at the end of the 19<sup>th</sup> century. However, the use of *in vitro* dissolution testing methods in the pharmaceutical industry gained importance only in the mid-20<sup>th</sup> century [2]. Since then, dissolution testing has experienced a phenomenal increase in importance and is currently one of the most important characterization tests employed in the pharmaceutical industry. With around 84 % of the top 50 drug products in the US and European markets administered orally [3], dissolution testing methods for tablets and capsules are understandably the most advanced. However, with the advent of a vast number of novel drug delivery systems, development of dissolution testing methods for modified-release dosage forms has gained increased recognition. Interest has concurrently developed in correlating *in vitro* dissolution data to *in vivo* product performance, creating the need for development of predictive *in vitro* dissolution tests.

According to the International Union of Pure and Applied Chemistry (IUPAC), the rate of dissolution can be defined as the change in concentration of a dissolved substance over a certain period of time [4]. The concept of rate of dissolution was first introduced in 1897 by Arthur A. Noyes and Willis R. Whitney [5]. They studied the dissolution of two sparingly soluble salts in water and observed that the rate of dissolution of a compound is proportional to the difference between the instantaneous concentration of the solution and the saturation solubility. This observation, stated mathematically, forms the Noyes and Whitney equation (Equation 1).

$$\frac{dC}{dt} = k(C_{\rm s} - C_{\rm t}) \tag{1}$$

Where,

dC = change in concentration over time dt

 $C_t$  = concentration at time t

 $C_s$  = saturation solubility of substance

k = constant

Noyes and Whitney proposed the mechanism of dissolution to the formation of a thin layer of unstirred liquid forming around the particle. They called this the diffusion layer and particles were proposed to diffuse from the diffusion layer to the bulk fluid [5]. To quantify the diffusion that occurs through the diffusion layer, Fick's first law of diffusion was used [6] (Equation 2).

$$\frac{dM}{dt} = -SD\frac{dC}{dx}$$
(2)

Where,

dM = mass diffused in time dt

S = surface area

 $D = diffusion \ coefficient$ 

dC = concentration difference

dx = distance to overcome

As reviewed by Dokoumetzidis, A. and Macheras, P., the next development in the field took place at the dawn of the 20<sup>th</sup> century. In 1900, Erich Brunner and Stanis-laus von Tolloczko proposed further conditions under which Equation 1 holds [2]. According to their paper, properties of the exposed surface, including surface area and structure, rate of agitation, temperature and arrangement of the apparatus influenced the rate of dissolution. They modified Equation 1 to include a term for exposed area (S) available for dissolution (Equation 3).

$$\frac{dC}{dt} = k_1 S (C_S - C_t) \tag{3}$$

In 1904, Erich Brunner and Nernst Walther combined the diffusion layer theory with Fick's first law of diffusion (Equation 2) to give the Nernst-Brunner equation (Equation 4) [6].

$$\frac{dC}{dt} = \frac{DS}{Vh} (C_{\rm s} - C_{\rm t}) \tag{4}$$

Where,

V = volume of dissolution media

h = thickness of diffusion layer

In the above equations, surface area is considered to be constant during the experiment. However, in most practical cases, the surface area of a particle reduces as it continues to dissolve in a liquid [6]. In 1931, A. W. Hixson and J. H. Crowell studied the dissolution of solids under perfect sink conditions [7]. Under sink conditions, the change in concentration of the bulk fluid is negligible and thus can be considered to be a constant. Incorporating these changes in Equation 2, the diffusional mass transport can be considered to be a function of the surface area, S (Equation 5).

$$\frac{dM}{dt} = -k_2 S_t \tag{5}$$

Where,

 $S_t$  = surface area of the particle at time t

For a perfectly spherical particle, the surface area S is proportional to its mass,  $M^{2/3}$ . Substituting surface area for mass in Equation 5 and integrating the resulting equation gives Hixson-Crowell's "cube root law" (Equation 6) [7].

$$\sqrt[3]{M_{\rm t}} = \sqrt[3]{M_0} - k_3 t$$
 (6)

Where,

 $M_t$  = mass of substance at time t

 $M_0$  = initial mass of substance

This equation holds true for non-disintegrating, perfectly spherical particles undergoing dissolution under sink conditions. The Hixson-Crowell equation is one of the most commonly used equations to model drug release from pharmaceutical dosage forms. However, application of the equation becomes challenging as it is difficult to provide perfectly sink conditions and have non-disintegrating dosage forms in a practical setting. Thus, various other models have been developed over the years in order to model different types of dosage forms.

Although the concept of *in vitro* dissolution had advanced considerably in the first half of the 20<sup>th</sup> century, its applications were limited to the field of chemical engineering [2]. During this time, the *in vivo* availability of the drug was thought to be determined by the disintegration time of tablets [8]. However, a number of bioavailability concerns were raised in the 1950s. These incidences brought to light the insufficiency of disintegration to test the equivalence of two

products [9-11]. The importance of *in vitro* dissolution testing as a quality control tool was recognized in 1970, when dissolution testing was adopted as a routine quality control test in 6 monographs in the United States Pharmacopoeia (USP) and National Formulary (NF) [2].

According to the USP, a dissolution test evaluates the rate and extent to which a compound (drug) forms a solution (dissolves) under a predetermined set of carefully controlled conditions [12]. There are multiple variables which need to be considered while developing a dissolution method. These are mentioned in the USP general chapter on development and validation of dissolution methods [13] and would be highlighted later in the document. As with any other analytical method, a dissolution method should be robust, reproducible and discriminatory in nature. However, with the increasing applications of *in vitro* dissolution testing, new paradigms are being set to define an ideal dissolution test.

# 1.1.1 Characteristics of an Ideal Dissolution Test

The ideal characteristics of a dissolution test vary according to their intended application. In general, dissolution tests are expected to be discriminatory in nature, robust and reproducible [14]. Dissolution tests intended to be used for predicting *in vivo* release should display certain level of correlation.

#### **1.1.1.1 Discriminatory Potential**

One of the core characteristics of a dissolution test is its discriminatory potential. A dissolution method should be able to differentiate between products that are not equivalent to one another. However, the method should not be so sensitive that it discriminates between products that are clinically equivalent [15]. The discriminatory potential of a dissolution method is

influenced by the type of apparatus, media composition, temperature and stir/flow rate. Of note, the criteria chosen to decide equivalence also determines the discriminatory potential of a method. For example, in Figure 1 the test is discriminatory when the one-point acceptance criteria states that more than 90 % of the drug should dissolve within 90 minutes. However, the same test is non-discriminatory when the acceptance criteria states that more than 90 % of the drug should be dissolved at 120 minutes.



Figure 1. Representative Figure Showing Dependence of Discriminatory Potential on Acceptance Criteria

#### 1.1.1.2 Robustness

Robustness is the ability of the dissolution method to remain unaffected by small, deliberate changes made to the method [16]. Like any other analytical procedure, a dissolution test should be robust and not be sensitive to small changes in method parameters. There should not be

differences in results obtained by different labs or analysts. The dissolution method should not be sensitive to small changes in rate of agitation, media composition and temperature. [15].

#### 1.1.1.3 Transferability/ Reproducibility

The method should be simple enough to enable adoption by different laboratories [14]. The results should be independent of the source of materials, quality of solvent and brand of equipment. Anyone with the standard operation procedure (SOP) for the method should be able to run the test provided they have the required equipment at hand. Easy transferability of the test becomes important as it is likely that the same dissolution method would be used for routine quality control analysis in the future.

#### 1.1.1.4 Ability to Predict In-vivo Response

*In vitro* dissolution tests are one of the major characterization methods used to simulate *in vivo* drug release. Ideally, there should be a strong correlation between a dissolution test and *in vivo* response (absorption/plasma drug concentration) of the drug product. Thus, an *in vitro* test could serve as a predictor of *in vivo* bioavailability [17]. Use of biorelevant media, reservoir volumes and agitation rates that mimic *in vivo* environments help in enhancing the predictive power of dissolution tests. As we will see further, a dissolution test which predicts *in vivo* response plays an important role in determining bioequivalence. The use of predictive dissolution testing in obtaining biowaivers increases its importance exponentially.

## **1.1.2** Applications of Dissolution Testing

Dissolution testing has evolved from being a routine quality control method to an important evaluation technique used in the pharmaceutical industry. Reliable dissolution tests find applications in various areas of the product life-cycle, from drug development and optimization to quality assurance post marketing, as described below.

## **1.1.2.1 Product Development**

An important role of *in vitro* dissolution testing in the early stages of drug development is in product development. A good dissolution test can discriminate between products that are different due to differences in formulation and/or manufacturing conditions. Thus, dissolution testing is used to screen products prepared using different excipients and using different processing parameters. Drug products that show superior and reproducible dissolution profiles are further optimized to produce a marketable formulation [18]. The use of *in vitro* dissolution testing in product development has become more important as manufacturers are shifting to developing products using the quality by design (QbD) approach. For example, dissolution testing can provide information on the effect of process parameters on product performance. Such knowledge can be utilized to determine a design space, as explained by Dickinson, P. A. and colleagues [19]. Use of a design space reduces the regulatory burden on manufacturers and provides them some flexibility in modifying manufacturing conditions post approval.

#### **1.1.2.2 Routine Quality Control Analysis**

The most common use of a validated dissolution method is for ensuring batch-to-batch reproducibility. The Food and Drug Administration (FDA) requires dissolution testing to be performed on all batches before they are released to the market. In case the produced batches fail to meet the acceptance criteria for dissolution, the batches will be rejected. Dissolution testing is also a required characterization test for assessing shelf-life stability of drug products [20]. If a stability sample fails in the dissolution test, the batch must be recalled from the market.

#### 1.1.2.3 Biowaiver Application for Drugs containing Lower Strength of Actives

Another important application of dissolution testing is for the request of biowaivers. If a manufacturer has got an approval for a higher strength of dosage form, *in vivo* bioequivalence studies for lower strength products can be waived [21]. Such biowaivers are accepted if the relative ratios of API-to-excipients of the lower strength product and approved product are similar. Instead of single-point comparisons routinely used in the industry, biowaiver applications require dissolution profile comparisons. The dissolution profiles are compared at each timepoint for similarity and differences. If the difference factor (*f*1) between the two dissolution profiles is below 15 (0 – 15) and the similarity factor (*f*2) is above 50 (50 – 100), the dissolution profiles are said to be similar and *in vivo* bioequivalence studies can be waived. The *f*1 and *f*2 values can be calculated as per equations 7 and 8 respectively.

$$f1 = \left[\frac{\sum_{t=1}^{n} |R_t - T_t|}{\sum_{t=1}^{n} R_t}\right] \times 100$$
(7)

$$f2 = 50 \times \log[\frac{1}{\sqrt{[1 + \frac{1}{n}\sum_{t=1}^{n}(R_t - T_t)^2]}} \times 100]$$
(8)

Where,

n = number of time points

 $R_{\rm t}$  = dissolution value of the reference at time t

 $T_{\rm t}$  = dissolution value of the test at time t

## **1.1.2.4 Scale-Up and Post Approval Changes**

The FDA allows for *in vitro* dissolution testing data to substitute for *in vivo* bioequivalence tests for most scale-up and post approval changes. Minor changes in excipient concentrations, changes in batch size or manufacturing unit can be approved based on similarity in dissolution profiles of the new and old products [22].

## **1.1.2.5 Generic Product Bioequivalence**

*In vivo* bio-equivalence studies can be waived for most immediate-release (IR) formulations containing highly soluble and highly permeable APIs. Extended-release (ER) formulations usually require *in vivo* bioequivalence studies to be performed only on the highest strength. *In vitro* data is acceptable for the other strengths, provided that *in vivo* bioequivalence studies are performed on the highest strength of drug product [14]. However, biowaivers for generic drug products of low therapeutic index drugs are understandably not accepted. FDA also requires modified release (MR) dosage forms to be tested for alcohol effects. Different levels of ethanol are added to the dissolution media to see if burst release occurs from MR formulations. Burst release or "dose dumping" from MR formulations is unacceptable. If an *in vitro-in vivo* correlation has been established, *in vitro* dissolution testing can be substituted for *in vivo* bioequivalence studies for IR/ER formulations administered orally or non-orally, but these cases are dealt on a case basis. Thus, dissolution testing is the most important *in vitro* test to determine bioequivalence and in some cases bioavailability of drug products.

## 1.1.3 Role of Dissolution Testing in Assessing Bioavailability and Bioequivalence

Bioavailability (BA) can be defined as the fraction of the drug from the dosage form that reaches the systemic circulation unchanged [23]. Comparative BA studies compare the bioavailabilities of two or more formulations of the same drug [24]. Consequently, drug products are said to be bioequivalent (BE) when there is no significant difference in their BAs. In order to be BE, the drug products need to be either pharmaceutical equivalents or pharmaceutical alternatives. Pharmaceutically equivalent drug products contain identical amounts of the same API. Pharmaceutical alternatives are drug products that contain the same API but it may be in a different dosage form, amount or chemical form. The various criteria to determine BE and the use of *in vitro* dissolution tests as surrogate to clinical studies to prove BE has been discussed in the following sections.

#### **1.1.3.1** Criteria for Bioequivalence

The currently employed method for determining bioequivalence for two drug products is the 80/125 criteria after log transformation [25]. Accordingly, FDA considers two drug products to be bioequivalent if the 90 % confidence interval of the ratio of geometric means of key pharmacokinetic properties after log-transformation is within 80 % to 125 %. The key pharmacokinetic properties that are required to meet this criterion include the C<sub>max</sub> (maximum plasma concentration), area under the curve (AUC) from time 0-t and AUC from time 0- $\infty$  [26]. Figure 2 illustrates the criteria required in order to prove BE.



**Figure 2. Illustration of criteria required to prove bioequivalence (Adapted from [27]).** In this figure, The green lines are examples of bioequivalent formulae and red lines are examples of bioinequivalent formulae.

# 1.1.3.2 Tests for Determining Bioequivalence

When BA and BE regulations were first introduced, there was confusion as to whether *in vivo* studies were required to be performed on drugs that were approved prior to introduction of these regulations. In 1974, the Drug Bioequivalence Study Panel which was a part of the Office of Technology Assessment stated that it was not practical to perform BE studies on all drugs or drug products that were approved before the inclusion of BA guidelines [28]. It was proposed that a certain group of drugs be identified where evidence of BA is crucial. *In vivo* studies should be required to determine BA and BE of only these drug products. These suggestions were incorporated in the guidelines in 1977 and *in vivo* efficacy studies were waived for some drugs that were approved before 1962 [29].

The current tests that can be used to determine BA and BE are listed in Title 21 of the Code of Federal Regulations (CFR). BA and BE are covered under part 320 of the regulations. According to the section, the following test procedures, in descending order of preference are acceptable as evidence to determine the BA and BE of a drug product [30]:

- A. In vivo (clinical) studies determining the concentration of drug (and/or its active metabolites) in the blood/plasma/serum or another appropriate biological fluid as a function of time. If there is an *in vitro* test that has been correlated with and is predictive of human *in vivo* bioavailability data, it can be used in lieu of *in vivo* studies.
- B. In vivo (clinical) studies where the concentration of API/active metabolites are measured in the urine as a function of time can also be used as a measure of BA and BE. FDA recommends the time intervals to be as small as possible in order to effectively estimate the rate of elimination of the drug. This approach is not appropriate for drugs that are not excreted primarily in the urine.
- C. A third way to determine BA and BE is by using pharmacological end points. This *in vivo* approach is used when there is no method to determine the concentration of API in biological fluids or excretory products. There should, however, be a well-established method to determine the acute pharmacological effect. BA determination by pharmacological studies is suitable for use of drugs that are administered for local use.
- D. The least accurate method as described by the FDA is that of well-controlled clinical trials comparing the safety and efficacy of two drug products. This method is accepted when previous approaches cannot be used. Accepted

application of this technique is for locally administered products which are not intended to be absorbed, e.g.: topical preparations and inhaled bronchodilators. Periodontal microparticles such as Arestin® and their generic products can also be considered in this category.

- E. An *in vitro* test (usually the dissolution test) which is currently available and accepted by the FDA. This test should ensure that the drug product has a suitable *in vivo* human BA.
- F. Any other approach that the FDA deems fit to establish BA and BE of drug product.

## 1.1.3.3 Bioequivalence Testing According to the Biopharmaceutics Classification System

In the past two decades, the role of dissolution testing in determining BA and BE has increased considerably. This is a result of the introduction of the Biopharmaceutics Classification System (BCS). The BCS classification of drug substances was introduced by G. L. Amidon. According to the BCS, drug substances can be divided into four categories as follows: Class I – high solubility, high permeability; Class II – low solubility, high permeability; Class III – high solubility, low permeability; and Class IV – low solubility, low permeability [31]. In context of biowaiver applications, a drug is said to be 'highly soluble' when the highest strength of the API in a drug product is soluble in 250 mL or less of aqueous media at  $37 \pm 1$  °C within the pH range of 1 - 6.8 [32]. A 'highly permeable' drug has a systemic BA (or extent of absorption) of 85 % or more of an administered dose, provided the drug is stable in the gastrointestinal (GI) tract. Besides solubility and permeability, the FDA considers dissolution as a third parameter when assessing biowaiver requirements. The FDA suggests that it will consider applications to grant biowaivers to manufacturers for BCS Class I or Class III drugs when formulated in an IR product.

#### **1.2 Development and Validation of Dissolution Methods**

Development of reliable dissolution method is therefore an important step in the product development and approval process. Dissolution method development involves optimization of a number of variables, such as the type of dissolution apparatus, dissolution media and volume, agitation/flow rate, sampling times, temperature and analytical procedure [13]. The most important steps in development of a dissolution method are the selection of an apparatus and the determination of which dissolution media will be used, as described in the following paragraphs.

# **1.2.1** Types of Dissolution Testing Apparatus

Dissolution tests can be carried out in a variety of apparatuses, depending on the type of drug product that needs to be tested. However, to standardize the dissolution tests worldwide, regulatory agencies compiled a list of official dissolution apparatuses. There are seven types of dissolution apparatuses that are listed in the USP. The first four types of official dissolution apparatuses (Apparatus I – IV) are listed in USP general chapter 711 [33]. This chapter is harmonized with the Japanese Pharmacopoeia and European Pharmacopoeia. USP Apparatus V – VII are listed in general chapter 724 [34]. These three apparatuses are intended for testing of transdermal systems and are not accepted by the European and Japanese pharmacopoeias. The seven official USP apparatuses are tabulated in Table 1 and an illustration of their agitation assembly is presented in Figure 3.

| Apparatus Type                            | Agitation Rate                                | Media<br>Volume/ Flow<br>Rate | Applications   |
|---|---|-------------------------------|--|
| Apparatus I – Basket                      | 25 – 50 rpm                                   | 500 – 4000 mL                 | Capsules, tablets                                    |
| Apparatus II – Paddle                     | 25 – 150 rpm                                  | 500 – 4000 mL                 | Capsules, tablets, suspensions                       |
| Apparatus III –<br>Reciprocating Cylinder | 9.9 – 10.1 cm<br>(reciprocating<br>amplitude) | 250 mL                        | Capsules, tablets,<br>suspensions, granules          |
| Apparatus IV – Flow<br>Through Cell       | NA  | Up to 50<br>mL/min            | Any dosage form, with<br>appropriate<br>modification |
| Apparatus V – Paddle<br>Over Disk         | 25 – 150 rpm                                  | 500 – 4000 mL                 | Transdermal patch                                    |
| Apparatus VI –<br>Cylinder                | 50 rpm  | 500 – 4000 mL                 | Transdermal patch                                    |
| Apparatus VII –<br>Reciprocating Holder   | 2 cm (reciprocating amplitude)                | Variable                      | Transdermal patch,<br>non-disintegrating<br>tablets  |

 Table 1. List of Official Dissolution Apparatus, their Properties and Applications [35]


**Figure 3. Illustration of Agitation Assemblies of USP Apparatuses.** (A) Apparatus I – Basket, (B) Apparatus II – Paddle, (C) Apparatus III – Reciprocating cylinder, (D) Apparatus IV – Flow through cell, (E) Apparatus V – Paddle over disk, (F) Apparatus VI – Cylinder, (G) Apparatus VII – Reciprocating holders

# **1.2.2** Types of Media Used for Dissolution Testing

The FDA recommends all dissolution tests to be carried out using aqueous media [36]. However, the choice of media depends on the purpose of dissolution testing. In general, types of dissolution media used for dissolution testing can be classified as non-biorelevant and biorelevant.

## 1.2.2.1 Non-Biorelevant Dissolution Media

When a dissolution test is carried for routine quality control purposes, non-biorelevant media are generally used [37]. Such dissolution tests are conducted mainly to obtain dissolution profiles of drug products and are not intended for determining *in vitro-in vivo* correlations

(IVIVC). Usually, the limited buffering capacity of pure water discourages its use as a dissolution media. Many a times, researches use pH-adjusted aqueous solutions that mimic the pH of stomach (1.2) for dissolution testing. Thus the use of 0.1 N HCl solution recommended by the FDA to simulate the gastric pH is a non-biorelevant dissolution medium [21]. The volume of media employed is usually either 500, 900 or 1000 mL in compendial methods. Surfactants such as sodium lauryl sulfate and tween are often used to maintain sink conditions for drugs exhibiting poor aqueous solubility.

#### **1.2.2.2 Biorelevant Dissolution Media**

Biorelevant media are those media which mimic the fluid present at a particular site, at least to some extent. In 2015, Markopoulos, C. and colleagues classified biorelevant media into four categories [38]. Level 0 biorelevant media are those which mimic just the pH of the system. Such media were proposed to have some buffer capacity (not necessarily biorelevant) that could maintain the pH of the system. Under this classification, a pH 6.8 buffer media that is recommended by the FDA to mimic the pH of the intestine can be considered to be biorelevant [21]. Level I biorelevant media simulate the pH and buffering capacity present *in vivo*. Consideration of fasted and fed states comes into account as the fed conditions influence buffering capacity. Level II biorelevant media contain bile salts, lipids and other digestion products. The osmolality of the solution, along with composition is mimicked. Level III biorelevant media most closely mimic the fluid present in the body. They are similar in pH, buffer capacity, composition, osmolality, protein and enzyme content as well as viscosity [38].

The most commonly used biorelevant media simulate the gastro-intestinal environment. There are biorelevant media which mimic both the fasted and fed states of the stomach and small intestine [37, 39]. Over time, media mimicking the fluids present in various regions, such as synovial fluid [40], vaginal fluid [41], colonic fluid [42] and lung fluid [43] among others have been reported. Marques, M. R. C. and colleagues reviewed the various biorelevant dissolution media that can have potential applications in dissolution testing of drug products [43].

#### **1.2.3** Validation of Dissolution Methods

The guidelines for validation of dissolution methods are more general than those for chromatographic methods. The USP Chapter 1225 on Validation of Compendial Procedures [16] categorizes analytical procedures into four different categories. Each category has different requirements for validation. According to this chapter, dissolution methods need to be validated for precision. Other parameters such as accuracy, specificity, limit of detection and quantitation, linearity and range may be done, depending on the specific dissolution test. USP Chapter 1092 on The Dissolution Procedure: Development and Validation [13] gives a more detailed guideline on validation of dissolution tests. Some parameters that should be checked while validating dissolution methods include the discriminatory potential, specificity, linearity, accuracy, precision, robustness, filter compatibility and stability of sample.

## 1.3 Dissolution Testing of Micro/Nano-particulate Systems

A closer look at the various apparatuses and media would suggest that most of the methods are designed to test drug release from oral solid dosage forms. These methods are usually not suitable to test drug release from micro- or nanoparticulate systems. Thus, there have recently been efforts to develop methods to assess drug release from particulate dosage forms. Dissolution methods used for particulate systems were first classified by D'souza S. S. and DeLuca P. P. to be of the following three types: sample and separate, dialysis-based methods and continuous flow methods [44].

#### **1.3.1 Sample-and-Separate Type Methods**

Sample and separate based methods are the most commonly used dissolution methods for release testing of particulate systems [44, 45]. In sample and separate procedures, micro- or nanoparticles are added to tubes containing a suitable dissolution medium. These tubes are exposed to the desired temperatures and may be agitated during the test. Sampling of media is conducted at predetermined times by separating the particles from the media. Separation of microparticles is carried out by either filtration or centrifugation of the solution. After sampling, new media is added to the tubes to maintain sink conditions and dissolution volume [46].

Sample-and-separate methods provide flexibility in the amount of media that can be used for drug release testing. Methods reported in literature use either tubes or bottles and vary greatly in volume of media that is used for testing [45]. Media volumes of 1 mL [47, 48] to more than 100 mL [49, 50] can be used for drug release testing. Multiple modes of agitation (if desired) can be used in the methods. This is a simple method and can be carried out in almost every laboratory setting without the need of specialized equipment. However, the most common problem with this method is the loss and/or destruction of particles during sampling. Both filtration and centrifugation are unsuitable techniques for separation of particles from the dissolution media. Another issue that is often encountered with this technique is aggregation of microparticles [51]. Hydrolyzed polymers can clog filters and centrifugation can disrupt particle structure, giving unreliable results.

#### **1.3.2 Dialysis-Based Methods**

Dialysis methods were initially used for drug release testing of oily and liquid formulations [44]. Using dialysis-based methods to test drug release from microparticles helps in overcoming the problems involved with separation in the sample-and-separate methods. Briefly, in dialysis methods, the formulation to be tested is physically separated from the sampling media with the help of a dialysis membrane. Originally, the formulation to be tested was added to dialysis sacs, which was exposed to the dissolution media and maintained at an appropriate temperature [51]. The bulk media is generally agitated to assist drug diffusion from inside the dialysis sac [44]. Sink conditions are better maintained when the ratio of bulk fluid to fluid inside the dialysis sac is 5-10 [45]. In order to avoid interference of dialysis membrane in drug release, it is recommended that the molecular weight cut off (MWCO) of the membrane should be at least 100 times the size of the compound [52].

Although dialysis methods are convenient to measure drug release of particulate systems, they are often criticized for inadequate agitation and violation the sink conditions within the dialysis sacs [51]. In order to avoid sink violations, reverse dialysis methods were introduced, where microparticles are suspended in the outer bulk media and samples are taken from inside the dialysis sac. Reverse dialysis methods have been shown to have lesser variability than dialysis methods [53] but may lead to loss of sample [45]. In general, both dialysis and reverse dialysis membranes require a large amount of media to maintain sink conditions.

## **1.3.3 Continuous Flow Methods**

Continuous flow methods involve the use of a flow through cell. Typically, particles are added to a cell and the desired media is made to flow through the cell with the help of pumps. Media can be allowed to flow either without re-circulation (open loop) or with re-circulation (closed loop). Like the previous methods, continuous flow methods provide flexibility to use the desired media volume for drug release studies [46]. As reported in literature, continuous flow methods can be used in various configurations. One of the earliest tests involved dispersing microparticles in filtration cells and passing media continuously through the cells at a constant flow rate [54]. Aubert-Pouëssel, A. and coworkers developed a method where microparticles were dispersed in unpacked high-performance liquid chromatography (HPLC) tubes and incubated at  $37^{\circ}$ C. Media was continuously circulated through the cells at 5 µL/min and was collected in a refrigerated chamber where samples were stored prior to analysis [55]. The microparticles tested in this method were not separated from the dissolution media. Since microparticles are not separated from the continuously flowing media, the released polymer and/or the particles themselves may block the filter, causing irregular of flow rates during the test.

The most recently applied continuous flow dissolution method used to measure drug release from particulate systems utilizes the USP IV apparatus. It is currently the preferred method for drug release testing [46] and provides several advantages such as greater lab-to-lab uniformity, decreased aggregation of particles, and flexibility in the flow rate, volume and type media used. The USP IV apparatus can also be run in various configurations. In some configurations, microparticles are added to flow through cells and glass beads are used to prevent aggregation of particles, achieve a laminar flow and decrease the dead volume inside the cell [56]. Use of a filter on the exit side of the cell allows for separation of particles from the released drug. However,

polymers can settle in the tubes, blocking tubes and causing irregularities in the flow [46]. More recently, a dialysis enclosure has been used to physically separate microparticles from the dissolution media [57]. This technique combines the advantages of the dialysis-based techniques with those of continuous flow methods.

Another advantage of continuous flow-based methods is that a broad range of flow rates can be used for media circulation. Depending on the flow rate required, three types of pumps are used for continuous flow dissolution methods. HPLC pumps are used to achieve low flow rates of 0.4 mL/min [58] and peristaltic pumps are used for re-circulation and higher flow rates up to 30 mL/min [59]. Syringe pumps are generally used when extremely low flow rates are required. One of the lowest flow rates that has been used for drug release of microparticles is 5  $\mu$ L/min [55].

Most of the methods for drug release testing of particulate systems have been developed for testing injectable micro- or nanoparticles. They are usually carried out at high flow rates and relatively low media volumes to simulate the site of injection [60]. Since parenteral microparticles are designed to release the drug over extended periods of time, most of the research efforts focus on developing accelerated methods to study drug release from microparticles in a shorter time span. Researchers have developed accelerated continuous-flow methods for parenteral microparticles by using elevated temperatures [61], acidic [62] or alkaline [63] pH and changing the ionic strength [64].

There have been minimal efforts to design drug release testing methods for microparticles under biorelevant conditions. The dispersion releaser technology was recently introduced to test drug release from micro- and nanosized carriers. It is a dialysis-based device comprising of a slotted sample holder which is wrapped with a dialysis membrane [65]. This device is magnetically attached to the mini-paddle set-up of the mini-vessel assembly [66]. Jung, F. and coworkers compared the dispersion releaser technology to filtration-based drug release testing using biorelevant release media [67]. A physiologically-based pharmacokinetic model (PBPK) was developed and tested for both the methods. Although the filtration-based method was faster, the dispersion releaser technology could discriminate between slight changes in the formulation, providing better discriminatory potential.

#### 1.4 Dissolution Testing of PLGA-based Micro-/Nanoparticles

PLGA is a synthetic aliphatic copolymer of poly(lactic acid) (PLA) and poly(glycolic acid) (PGA). PLGA is available in a wide range of lactic acid-to-glycolic acid ratio (LA:GA) and molecular weights (Mw) of 10 - 200 kDa [68]. PLGA is a very versatile, biodegradable and biocompatible polymer approved by the FDA for human use. The versatility of PLGA stems from the ease with which properties of the polymer can be manipulated to obtain a suitable release profile. Some of the properties that affect the release of drugs from PLGA-based systems are listed below:

- A. *LA:GA Ratio:* PLA contains a methyl group in its structure, making it more hydrophobic in nature as opposed to PGA, which lacks the methyl group. Thus, increase in LA:GA ratio of PLGA increases the hydrophobicity of the polymer and results in lower rate of drug release [69].
- B. Polymer Crystallinity and Glass Transition: In general, when drug release is controlled by diffusion, increase in polymer crystallinity and glass transition temperature (Tg) decreases the rate of drug release [70]. PLGA can be prepared using poly(L-lactic acid) (PLLA), which is highly crystalline or poly(D-lactic acid) (PDLA), which is

completely amorphous or a mixture of the two forms. Although GA is more crystalline in nature, it reduces the overall crystallinity of PLGA. Thus, higher LA content causes an increase in crystallinity of the final PLGA, leading to decrease in rate of drug release [71]. Higher LA content, in addition to its effect on hydrophobicity, also increases the Tg of the polymer, reducing polymer chain motility and rate of drug release [70].

- C. *Molecular weight of PLGA:* Increase in Mw of PLGA causes increase in Tg and hydrophobicity. Thus, higher Mw PLGA releases drug more slowly than lower Mw PLGA [72, 73]. It is important to note that higher Mw PLGA degrades at a faster rate than lower Mw PLGA due to more sites of hydrolysis. However, polymer degradation affects drug release at a later stage than diffusion. Thus, the effect of faster polymer erosion in case of higher Mw PLGA is countered by more drug diffusing out of the particles during the initial phase in case of lower Mw PLGA [69].
- D. *Size of Matrix:* Autocatalysis of PLGA is one of the major mechanisms of drug release from PLGA systems. There are two processes countering each other during PLGA hydrolysis. First is the formation of acidic components which causes further hydrolysis of PLGA. Second in the influx of relatively basic release media, which neutralizes the acidic moieties [71]. Microparticles with a larger particle size have a longer diffusion path which reduces the rate of influx of basic moieties. Thus, larger microparticles are expected to increase the rate of drug release from PLGA microparticles.
- E. *Type of Drug:* Hydrophilic drugs diffuse through water-filled pores and hydrophobic drugs diffuse through the polymer. Diffusion through the polymer is usually slower than diffusion through water [74] and it has been shown previously that hydrophobic drugs show lower rates of drug release than hydrophilic drugs [75]. Weakly acidic and

basic drugs can also impact drug release from PLGA systems. Acidic drugs decrease the pH inside particles, increasing the PLGA hydrolysis. Basic drugs can either increase PLGA hydrolysis increasing the rate of drug release or neutralize the hydrolysis products and reduce drug release rate [71]. Further, time-dependent changes in pH within PLGA microparticles can affect drug ionization and charge-based interaction with PLGA. Drugs molecules are also known to interact with PLGA, altering the rates of drug release in these special cases. For example, Klose and coworkers [76] showed that ibuprofen (slightly acidic) has a much faster rate of drug release than lidocaine (slightly basic). This was attributed to the interaction of positively charged lidocaine to the negatively charged PLGA end groups.

- F. *Drug Loading:* Generally, microparticles which contain higher amount of drug show greater drug release. This is because the ratio of oligomer-to-drug is lower in particles with higher drug loading [72]. However, when a basic drug is encapsulated in PLGA systems, the Tg of the product increases with increase in drug loading. This is because basic drugs interact with PLGA, increasing matrix rigidity. Thus, the rate of drug release reduces with an increase in drug loading [77].
- G. *Fabrication Technique and Sterilization*: Various formulation and process parameters can significantly affect the characteristics of the PLGA particles [78]. Porosity of the particle is highly influenced by the manufacturing technique [79]. Increase in porosity increases the mobility of drug molecules leading to an increase in drug release. Increase in porosity can also change drug release mechanisms. In comparison to large porous particles, smaller porous particles display increased rate of drug release [80]. This is because drug molecules in smaller porous particles have access to more media and

surface area for drug release as compared to non-porous molecules, which require the polymer to degrade to release the drug.

#### 1.4.1 Mechanisms of Release from PLGA-based Systems

Although there are various factors that affect the release of drug from PLGA matrices, the actual mechanisms of drug release are limited. The "true" mechanisms of drug release, as summarized by Fredenberg, S. and colleagues [74] include:

- A. *Diffusion through water filled pores* is most common during the initial phase of drug release. Molecules diffuse through the water present in the pores in the matrix through random movements. This transport is driven by concentration gradient and is dependent on the porosity of the matrix.
- B. Osmotic pumping occurs usually in a non-swellable matrix. This phenomenon is a result of water absorption, which increases the osmotic pressure inside the particle. In this case, the drug releases out of the particle due to convection and not diffusion. Osmotic pumping is not a very commonly-observed mechanism of drug release in PLGA-based systems as PLGA has mobile chains which allow for swelling. However, it has been reported in literature in cases of hydrophobic (LA:GA ratio of 85:15) and high molecular weight (> 300 kDa) systems [81].
- C. *Diffusion through polymer* occurs in cases of very small hydrophobic molecules. The molecules partition into the polymer and travel through the polymer chains to the surface of the matrix. From there, the molecules need to dissolve in water before they can be released. Diffusion through polymer chains is not dependent on the porosity of

the matrix. However, increased porosity affects the overall release rate by increasing the rate of drug dissolution in water.

D. Polymer erosion is the main mechanism of drug release for low Mw PLGA systems. Polymer erosion is the hydrolytic cleavage of polymer chains leading to production of smaller oligomers. Once the polymer matrix erodes, the encapsulated drug is exposed to dissolution fluid, causing release of drug. This mechanism is especially important for high Mw drugs that cannot diffuse through the polymer or water to get released.

## 1.4.2 Methods to Determine Drug-Release from PLGA-based Micro-/Nanoparticles

Since there are a number of PLGA-based products in the market, the polymer is popular among researchers for investigation. This has driven the development of a number of approaches to test the drug-release from PLGA-based systems. The methods used to evaluate drug-release from PLGA micro- and nanoparticles can be categorized into sample-and-separate, dialysis-based and continuous flow methods. Most methods used for PLGA-based systems can be used for drugrelease testing of other microparticles and are summarized in the previous section. The development of accelerated drug-release testing methods is popular amongst PLGA microparticles as well. The USP IV apparatus is being increasingly used and explored for determining drugrelease from PLGA-based particulate systems. Particles are either dispersed with glass beads in dissolution cells [56] or placed in a dialysis adapter [57]. Dissolution tests are run either under "real-time" (37°C) or accelerated conditions, such as increased temperature [56, 61].

The dialysis adapter combines the advantages of dialysis and continuous flow methods. It helps in separating particles from the release media, reducing problems of filter blockage. The USP IV method is preferred over other methods as it is a standardized equipment, enabling the lab-to-lab transferability [56]. The USP IV method has been reported to simulate the subcutaneous environment present in clinical settings as the media in the environment is continuously replenished [82]. Thus, the USP IV apparatus is very suitable for drug release testing of parenteral PLGA particles which are administered subcutaneously.

However, despite all these efforts, there is a lack of biorelevant dissolution testing methods for microparticles that are intended to be administered in extremely small cavities, such as the periodontal and ocular pockets. There is thus a need for development of a small volume apparatus (SVA) that can be reliably used for drug release testing of particulate formulations intended to be delivered in small cavities.

# 2.0 Project Goal and Approach

# 2.1 Project Goal

Based on the current need for development of small volume dissolution apparatus, the goal of my project was to develop a biorelevant dissolution method for microparticulate systems intended to be delivered in small cavities. A rapid screening method utilizing the USP IV apparatus was also developed. The specific aims of my project were:

- A) To evaluate the discriminatory potential of the rapid screening and biorelevant dissolution methods
- B) To assess the reproducibility of the developed methods

## 2.2 Approach



Figure 4. Overview of Approach Taken to Achieve Project Goal

## 2.2.1 Model Drug Product

The overall approach undertaken in order to achieve the project goal is summarized in Figure 4. In order to develop and demonstrate the applicability of a small volume dissolution apparatus, microparticles applied in the periodontal pocket were selected. Specifically, minocycline hydrochloride (MIN), an antibiotic, loaded PLGA-based microparticles were evaluated. These microparticles are used in periodontitis. Periodontitis affected about 64.7 million people (46 % of the population) between 2009-2012 in United States alone [83]. It is a chronic

bacterial inflammation of the epithelial and connective tissues that surround and support the teeth [84]. In healthy adults, the gap between these periodontal tissues and the tooth is 1-3 mm [85]. One of the hallmarks of periodontal disease is increase in pocket depth and formation of a periodontal pocket [86]. Figure 5 illustrates the differences between a healthy and inflamed periodontal pocket.





Various studies show a positive correlation between the volume of the periodontal pocket and the stage of periodontal disease [87-89]. The pocket volume varies from 0.4  $\mu$ L to 1.5  $\mu$ L depending on stage of disease [90]. The periodontal pocket is filled with a physiological and inflammatory exudate, called the gingival crevicular fluid (GCF). The composition of GCF is similar to that of any inflammatory exudate with lower protein content [91]. The flow of GCF is highly variable and ranges between  $0.33 - 0.73 \,\mu$ L/min [90].

The most common and effective treatment of periodontitis is scaling and root planing (SRP). It is often accompanied with administration of antibiotics either locally or systemically. Tetracyclines, doxycycline, metronidazole, amoxicillin, ciprofloxacin and macrolide antibiotics are reported to be useful as systemic antibiotics in periodontitis [92]. To avoid problems of systemic antimicrobial resistance and side effects, focus was shifted to locally administered antimicrobial therapy [93]. The first locally acting system for periodontitis was Actisite<sup>TM</sup>, which was comprised of tetracycline-loaded fibers that were wound around the affected teeth. Since then, various films, gels, chips, cubes and micro- or nanoparticles have been studied for management of periodontitis [94].

In the current study, we used Arestin® as a model drug product for the development of dissolution methods. Arestin® is manufactured by OraPharma and is composed of PLGA microspheres encapsulating 1 mg of MIN, a bacteriostatic agent. Arestin® is shown to maintain therapeutic levels in the periodontal pocket for a period of 14 days [95]. Clinical studies have shown Arestin® in conjunction to SRP is more effective than SRP alone [96]. Another study compared the effectiveness of Arestin® and Elyzol (25 % metronidazole gel) as adjunct treatments in periodontitis. At 3 months, only the Arestin®+SRP group showed a statistically significant increase in clinical attachment level and reduction in pocket probing depth [97]. Thus, Arestin® has been shown to be an effective strategy for management of periodontitis and has been available in the market for almost two decades. The physicochemical properties of the two main components of Arestin®, MIN, the active agent and PLGA, the release controlling polymer are listed below.

## 2.2.1.1 Minocycline Hydrochloride – Active Pharmaceutical Ingredient



Figure 6. Structure of Minocycline Hydrochloride

| Table 2 | . Properties | of Minocycline | e Hydrochloride [98] |
|---------|--------------|----------------|----------------------|
|---------|--------------|----------------|----------------------|

| Molecular weight    | 493.941 g/mol  |
|---------------------|--|
| Molecular formula   | C <sub>23</sub> H <sub>27</sub> N <sub>3</sub> O <sub>7</sub> .HCl |
| Class               | Tetracyclines (semi-synthetic)                                     |
| Mechanism of action | Inhibition of protein translation                                  |
| Water solubility    | 52,000 mg/L at 25°C  |
| Log K <sub>ow</sub> | 0.05   |
| рКа                 | 2.8, 5.0, 7.5, 9.6 [99]  |
|                     | Stable in air; sensitive to heat, light, and                       |
| Stability           | oxidation. Degrades in acidic and basic                            |
|                     | conditions (pH 0.38 – 9.35) [100]                                  |

## 2.2.1.2 Poly (lactic-co-glycolic acid) – Release Controlling Polymer

As reviewed earlier, PLGA is a versatile polymer that has been used in multiple products which are currently in the market. Being FDA approved, the polymer finds applications in a wide variety of fields, from drug delivery to bone regeneration. Like in other PLGA-based systems, the role of PLGA in Arestin® is to control the rate of MIN release. Based on the results of reverse engineering of Arestin® (unpublished data), Arestin® is composed of PLGA with LA:GA ratio of 50:50. The polymer has acid-end groups and molecular weight of about 24 kDa. Arestin® microparticles encapsulate 25 % w/w of MIN. The slow degradation of PLGA inside the periodontal pocket helps in maintaining the concentration of MIN above therapeutic levels in the pocket for at least 14 days [101].

#### 2.2.2 Development of Comparators to Challenge Developed Methods

The discriminatory ability of dissolution methods is generally assessed by testing the effects of deliberate changes in manufacturing of the products on dissolution characteristics [102]. Thus, a panel of microparticles with deliberate changes in composition were prepared (unpublished data). These microparticles were prepared by varying the *LA:GA ratios*, *Mw* of PLGA and MIN *drug loading* and were expected to show differences in drug release.

Additionally, a panel of microparticles with similar composition to Arestin® but prepared using different manufacturing conditions, specifically *stir rate* and *solvent ratio* were prepared. These microparticles were tested on the USP IV method to evaluate if the method can detect differences based on manufacturing differences. All microparticles were designed, fabricated and characterized for particle size by Ms. Ashlee C. Greene in Dr. Steven R. Little's research group (Swanson School of Engineering, University of Pittsburgh).

#### 2.2.3 Development of Dissolution Methods

Currently, the USP method for dissolution testing of periodontal systems containing MIN utilizes a tube rotator equipment. Briefly, one dose of the periodontal system is dispensed in a 15 cm long glass tube between two 25  $\mu$ m screens. 10 mL of phosphate buffer (pH 4.2) is added to

the tubes and they are sealed with a snap-seal closure made of Teflon. The tubes are rotated in the tube rotator and the entire assembly is maintained at 37°C. Samples are taken at 4 h, 24 h, 48 h and 72 h by total medium replacement. The amount of MIN in dissolution samples is calculated using a liquid chromatography method at 280 nm [103]. The acceptance criteria as give in the USP monograph is as follows:

| Time    | Release Calculated Amount |                     | Cumulative Amount   | Calculated %     |  |
|---------|---------------------------|---------------------|---------------------|------------------|--|
| (hours) | Rate (µg/h)               | to be Released (µg) | to be Released (µg) | Released (Ideal) |  |
| 0-4     | NLT 25                    | NLT 100             | NLT 100             | NLT 10           |  |
| 4 - 24  | NLT 1                     | NLT 20              | NLT 120             | NLT 12           |  |
| 24 - 48 | NLT 0.2                   | NLT 4.8             | NLT 124.8           | NLT 12.48        |  |
| 48 - 72 | NLT 0.05                  | NLT 1.2             | NLT 126             | NLT 12.6         |  |

Table 3. Acceptance Criteria as per USP Monograph

\*Note: NLT = Not less than

Tariq M. and colleagues reviewed the numerous methods that have been used for drug release testing of periodontal systems *in vitro* [104]. A variety of dissolution media, from distilled water to simulated salivary fluid, human serum and hydroalcoholic solutions have been reported in literature. The media volumes also vary greatly, from 1 mL to 500 mL. Continuous flow methods with flow rates ranging from 0.65 mL/min to 10 mL/min have been used for testing. However, none of the methods simulated the extremely low fluid volumes and flow rates present in the periodontal pockets. The current work was focused on bridging this gap between *in vitro* evaluation settings and *in vivo* release conditions.

First, a rapid screening method based on a previously reported USP IV method [57] was developed. This method was used to test drug release from the prepared microparticles and to ascertain that the microparticles produced broad differences in dissolution profiles. After

confirming that the microparticles showed differences using the USP IV method, the novel small volume method (SVM) was evaluated using these microparticles.

The SVM was developed on a small volume apparatus (SVA) which was designed previously in our lab (Invention Disclosure Number 04686). The apparatus (Figure 7) consists of an inner slotted chamber and outer closed chamber. The inlet and outlet caps are designed to allow unidirectional flow of media, allowing the assembly to function like a flow-through cell. The assembly is connected to a syringe pump which allows for continuous media flow in an open-loop configuration. These flow through cells can be placed in an oven to regulate the temperature.



Figure 7. Images of the Small Volume Apparatus. (A) Inlet cap, (B) Outlet cap, (C) Outer chamber, (D) Inner chamber with dialysis membrane, (E) Assembled device

A GCF simulant (sGCF) was also developed in the laboratory. The sGCF was used as a biorelevant media for the SVM. Table 4 lists the composition of the sGCF and Table 5 compares the composition of sGCF and human GCF.

| Table 4. | Composition | of GCF | Simulant |
|----------|-------------|--------|----------|
|----------|-------------|--------|----------|

| Component                   | Amount (g/L) | Amount (mM) |
|-----------------------------|--------------|-------------|
| Citric acid monohydrate     | 0.338        | 1.608       |
| Trisodium citrate dihydrate | 5.411        | 20.968      |
| Sodium chloride             | 6.740        | 115.332     |
| Potassium chloride          | 0.719        | 9.644       |
| Bovine serum albumin        | 0.056        | 0.001       |
| Calcium chloride dihydrate  | 0.490        | 3.333       |
| MilliQ water                | 1 L          | -           |

 Table 5. Comparison between sGCF and human GCF [105]

| Component         | Human GCF       | sGCF      |
|-------------------|-----------------|-----------|
| Sodium (mEq/L)    | 174.7 ± 18      | 174.5     |
| Potassium (mEq/L) | $9.54\pm2.4$    | 9.52      |
| Calcium (mEq/L)   | $5.41 \pm 0.37$ | 5.44      |
| рН                | 6.8-8.7         | 7.2 [106] |

## 2.2.4 Development of Analytical Methods

MIN is sensitive to heat, light and oxidation [107]. About 10 % MIN degrades within an hour in phosphate buffered saline (PBS) at 37°C [108]. The degradation of MIN poses a challenge in the development of UV assay methods for quantitation of MIN in dissolution samples. It has been reported that for unstable drugs, UV analysis can be carried out at isosbestic point [109]. The isosbestic point is the wavelength at which the total absorbance of the sample does not change during a chemical reaction or when the sample undergoes a physical change [110]. Simply put, at

the isosbestic point, the total absorbance of the sample depends on the total molar concentration of two or more species in equilibrium.

Isosbestic point analysis has been used in the compendial dissolution method for Aspirin tablets [111]. Previous reports have demonstrated that tetracycline hydrochloride also displays an isosbestic point and that analysis of tetracycline and its degradants can be carried out at the isosbestic point without separation of the components [112]. Yang, Z. and coworkers reported to have analyzed MIN dissolution samples using UV-Visible spectroscopy without chromatographic separation of the degradants [113]. This indicates that MIN may exhibit an isosbestic point, which can be used for UV analysis of MIN samples. Thus, an online UV-based analytical method was developed for analysis of MIN samples using the USP IV method. The dissolution samples obtained using the biorelevant dissolution method were evaluated using a liquid chromatography based-assay.

A brief account of the development of analytical methods is presented in chapter 4. Chapters 4 and 5 also demonstrate the development and testing of the USP IV method and SVA using the developed microparticles as well as Arestin®. Specifically, Arestin® was utilized during method development and to test the reproducibility of the methods. The discriminatory ability of the method was evaluated using the developed microparticle panel(s).

39

#### **3.0 Materials and Methods**

## **3.1 Materials**

Minocycline hydrochloride was purchased from Sigma Aldrich. Citric acid monohydrate, sodium hydroxide, sodium chloride, sodium citrate, bovine serum albumin, calcium chloride dihydrate, sodium azide and dimethyl sulfoxide were purchased from Spectrum Chemical. Potassium phosphate monobasic, potassium chloride, acetonitrile, ethanol and phosphate buffered saline (10x) were procured from Fisher Scientific. Tetra butyl ammonium hydrogen sulphate (98%) was obtained from J. T. Baker®. Float-A-Lyzer® G2 devices of 50 kDa MWCO and dialysis tubing (1 cm flat length, 50 kDa MWCO) were obtained from Spectrum Laboratories. Tygon tubing of 5/32" and 1/8" outer diameter was obtained from Fisher Scientific while tubing of 0.09" outer diameter was obtained from Cole-Parmer. All small volume chambers were manufactured by Mr. James Scott Macpherson at Swanson School of Engineering, University of Pittsburgh.

#### **3.2 Fabrication of MIN loaded PLGA Microparticles**

A panel of microparticles (Panel A), prepared using different process parameters, were prepared using the single emulsion method. Another panel of microparticles having differences in formulation (Panel B) were also prepared. The microparticles in Panel A were prepared using PLGA of Mw 24 – 38 kDa. The ratio of PLGA:dichloromethane (DCM) and the stir rate used to prepare the microparticles was varied, as given in Table 6. Panel B (Table 7) was prepared by varying the MIN drug loading, Mw and LA:GA ratio of PLGA. All microparticles were prepared using the single emulsion technique and were designed and fabricated by Ms. Ashlee C. Greene in Dr. Steven R. Little's Laboratory (Swanson School of Engineering, University of Pittsburgh).

| Microparticle Name | Stir Rate | Ratio of PLGA:DCM |
|--------------------|-----------|-------------------|
| 0.025H             | 1500      | 0.025             |
| 0.05H              | 1500      | 0.05              |
| 0.0625M            | 1000      | 0.0625            |
| 0.1L               | 500       | 0.1               |

Table 6. Microparticles Differing in Process Parameters (Panel A)

Table 7. Microparticles Differing in Formulation (Panel B)

| Microparticle |       | Molecular Weight | <b>Theoretical Drug</b> |  |
|---------------|-------|------------------|-------------------------|--|
| Name          | LA:GA | (kDa)            | Loading (%)             |  |
| 50L3          | 50:50 | 15.4             | 50                      |  |
| 50H1          | 50:50 | 64.14            | 25                      |  |
| 75L2          | 75:25 | 14.2             | 37.5                    |  |
| 85L1          | 85:15 | 21.8             | 25                      |  |
| 85H3          | 85:15 | 43.3             | 50                      |  |

## **3.3 Characterization of Prepared Comparators**

All microparticles were characterized for particle size, surface morphology, drug content and polymer Tg. Particle size and surface morphology were determined by Ms. Ashlee C. Greene. Measurements were performed by volume impedance using Coulter Counter (Multisizer 3, Beckman Coulter). Surface morphology was tested using scanning electron microscopy (SEM). The microparticles were sputter coated with gold/palladium (Au/Pd) using the Denton Sputter Coater and then imaged using the JEOL JSM-6510LV/LGS (JEOL Inc., USA). Drug content was measured by dissolving around 10 mg particles (or 2 units of Arestin®) in 100 mL of 20 % acetonitrile in MilliQ water. The particles were vortexed and stirred in the dark for 1 hour. The solution was then filtered using 0.22  $\mu$ m teflon syringe filters (Restek<sup>TM</sup>) and analyzed using the ultra-high performance liquid chromatography (UPLC) method described below. The Tg of PLGA in microparticles was characterized using differential scanning calorimetry (DSC). 2-5 mg microparticles were weighed in aluminum pans and sealed with a sealing press (METTLER TOLEDO). The lids were punctured to allow for escape of water. Tg was calculated in a cyclic run on DSC 2 STAR<sup>e</sup> System (METTLER TOLEDO). First, the microparticles were heated at 10°C/min from 25 – 125°C. This was done to remove moisture from the sample. The samples were then cooled to 0°C at -10°C/min and heated again to 250°C at 10°C/min. All runs were carried out under nitrogen gas at a flow rate of 50 mL/min.

## 3.4 Determination of Isosbestic Point

To determine the isosbestic point of MIN, 25  $\mu$ g/mL samples of MIN in 0.1 % sodium azide in PBS were kept in amber colored vials at 37°C for 5 days. Every day, one vial was removed and stored at -80°C. UV absorption spectra of all samples were taken using VISIONpro software with a UV spectrophotometer (Evolution 300, Thermo Scientific).

#### 3.5 Dissolution of Microparticles by USP IV Method

A USP IV method was developed based on a previously published method [57]. The media pumps were calibrated using water at 10 mL/min for 2 minutes. A % error of less than 5 % was accepted. Float-A-Lyzer® G2 devices of 50 kDa molecular weight cut-off (Spectrum Laboratories) were prepared by rinsing them first with 10 % ethanol for 10 minutes, then with purified water for 30 minutes and finally with 0.1 % sodium azide in PBS (dissolution media) for another 30 minutes. About 10 mg microparticles (or two Arestin® cartridges) were added to the prepared devices. 1.8 mL of dissolution media was added to the devices before capping them. The prepared devices were placed in 22.6 mm flow through cells and dissolution was carried out using USP IV apparatus (SOTAX CP7 manual closed loop system). 80 mL of dissolution media served as the reservoir and was made to recirculate at 10 mL/min flow rate. The test was carried out at 37°C for 3 days. At predetermined intervals, the cumulative amount of drug released was measured by an online UV spectrophotometer (Evolution 300, Thermo Scientific) at 292 nm. At regular intervals, a calibration curve of minocycline hydrochloride in dissolution media was prepared and analyzed at 292 nm. The readings were used to determine the E11 value, utilized by the software to measure % dissolved values during on-line UV analysis. Figure 8 shows a schematic representation of the USP IV-based dissolution method.



Figure 8. Schematic Representation of USP IV Dissolution Method

## 3.6 Dissolution of Microparticles Using Small Volume Apparatus

Syringe pumps (KD Scientific) were filled with sGCF and calibrated at 0.5  $\mu$ L/min. An error of <10 % was accepted. The inner chamber of the SVA was wrapped with a dialysis membrane of 50 kDa MWCO (Biotech CE, 1 cm flat width, Spectrum Laboratories) using an adhesive (Liquid Nails All Purpose Adhesive) and teflon tape. About 10 mg microparticles (or 1 cartridge of Arestin®) were added to the chamber followed by 250  $\mu$ L of sGCF. The inner chamber was inserted into the outer chamber and sGCF was made to flow through the assembled cell at 100  $\mu$ L/min to fill the chamber entirely. Once filled, the flow rate was reduced to 0.5  $\mu$ L/min. Samples were collected daily for at least 14 days and diluted to a final of 20 % of acetonitrile in sGCF. The diluted samples were analyzed by UPLC. Figure 9 illustrates the small volume dissolution method.



Figure 9. Schematic Representation of (A) Dissolution Cell and (B) Set-up of Small Volume Method

# 3.7 UPLC Analysis of Minocycline Hydrochloride

A UPLC-based assay for MIN was developed in-house. A UPLC system (Acquity, Waters) with a TUV detector was used for analysis. An Acquity UPLC BEH C18 column (1.7  $\mu$ m, 2.1 mm × 50 mm) maintained at 35°C was used. The mobile phase composed of 76 % of citrate-phosphate buffer at pH 7.0 and 24 % of acetonitrile, added gravimetrically. A flow rate of 0.2 mL/min was used for the isocratic method. Samples were stored at 7°C throughout the run. Samples were run for 10 minutes and calibration standards were run for 7 minutes in the respective matrix. Analysis was carried out at 277 nm.

# 3.8 Statistical analysis

Wherever necessary, the dissolution profiles were compared for similarity using the f1 difference factor (Equation 7) and f2 similarity factor (Equation 8).

#### 4.0 Results

Microparticles of both panels were characterized for particle size, surface morphology, drug loading and Tg. The particles were evaluated for drug release using the rapid screening USP IV method. Microparticles of Panel B were evaluated using the SVM as well. Both dissolution methods exhibited discriminatory ability.

#### 4.1 Characterization of MIN loaded PLGA Microparticles

All microparticles that were manufactured to challenge the developed methods were spherical and had a smooth surface. Figure 10 shows a representative SEM image of Arestin®. The characteristics of microparticles in Panel A are summarized in Table 8. The particle size of all microparticles of Panel A was found to be 32  $\mu$ m and 44  $\mu$ m. The MIN content of these microparticles ranged between 9 – 22 % w/w. Figure 11 is a typical curve that was obtained using DSC. All microparticles had a Tg between 48 – 55°C, characteristic of the PLGA used. Table 9 summarizes the properties of Panel B microparticles. All microparticles of Panel B and Arestin<sup>®</sup> had a particle size between 28  $\mu$ m to 40  $\mu$ m and drug loading between 9 – 21 % w/w. Overall, all microparticles that were prepared had a drug loading between 9 – 22 % w/w, which was found to be lower than Arestin<sup>®</sup> (25 % w/w).



Figure 10. SEM Image of Arestin® Microparticles

| Microparticle | Solvent | Stir | Particle  | Drug Loading | Tg (°C) |          |
|---------------|---------|------|-----------|--------------|---------|----------|
|               | Ratio   | Rate | Size (µm) | (% w/w)      | Onset   | Midpoint |
| 0.025H        | 0.025   | 1500 | 32.3±10.3 | 12.24        | 50.6    | 51.18    |
| 0.05H         | 0.05    | 1500 | 38.8±9.9  | 9.2          | 47.77   | 50.46    |
| 0.0625M       | 0.0625  | 1000 | 43.2±12.1 | 12.43        | 47.28   | 50.02    |
| 0.1L          | 0.1     | 500  | 39.6±14.9 | 21.67        | 46.33   | 48.95    |

Table 8. Characteristics of Panel A Microparticles

\*Particle size data generated by Ms. Ashlee Greene, Dr. Steven R. Little Lab

| Microparticle | LA:GA | PLGA     | Particle     | Drug Loading    | Tg (°C) |          |
|---------------|-------|----------|--------------|-----------------|---------|----------|
|               | Ratio | Mw (kDa) | Size (µm)    | (% w/w)         | Onset   | Midpoint |
| 85H           | 85:15 | 43.3     | 33.9 ± 11.9  | 15.50           | 51.62   | 54.28    |
| 85L           | 85:15 | 21.8     | 39.2 ± 11.3  | 9.90            | 51.93   | 55.36    |
| 75L           | 75:25 | 14.2     | 36.9 ± 12.8  | 11.42           | 45.83   | 49.36    |
| 50H           | 50:50 | 64.14    | 32.9 ± 10.1  | 9.10            | 47.49   | 50.15    |
| 50L           | 50:50 | 15.4     | $28.7\pm9.6$ | 21.05           | 49.05   | 52.75    |
| Arestin®      | 50:50 | ~24      | 28.6±12.3    | $25.13 \pm 0.4$ | 45.87   | 48.52    |
|               |       |          | (Lot H)      | (Lot F)         |         |          |

Table 9. Characteristics of Panel B Microparticles

\*Particle size data generated by Ms. Ashlee Greene, Dr. Steven R. Little Lab



**Figure 11. DSC Curve of Arestin® Microparticles.** The light blue region represents the curve obtained during the first and second heat-cool cycle. The dark blue curve was obtained during the second heating cyle and was used for calculating Tg. The peaks at the end of the chromatogram indicate drug degradation.

In order to quantify the released MIN from microparticles during dissolution using USP IV apparatus, an online UV-Vis spectrophotometer was utilized. However, rapid degradation of MIN precluded use of UV spectrophotometer for drug quantitation. Moreover, chromatographic methods were not preferred because the total degradation products cannot be accounted given their varied absorptivity. Therefore, to account for the degradation, isosbestic point was determined for MIN in the dissolution media.

#### 4.2 Determination of Isosbestic Point of MIN

Figure 12 shows an overlay of the UV spectra of MIN samples ( $25 \mu g/mL$  in 0.1% sodium azide in PBS) maintained at 37 °C over a period of 5 days under mild shaking. As can be observed from the graphs, the absorption maxima of MIN is 246 nm. The absorbance at this wavelength is influenced mainly by the amount of MIN in the sample. Thus, as MIN degrades with time, the absorbance at 246 nm decreases. However, the wavelength region from 276 - 312 nm showed overlapping UV spectra indicating no or minimal changes in absorbance for samples stored for different lengths of time. This region is termed as the isosbestic region. The absorbance of the sample in this region is proportional to the *total* concentration of MIN and its degradants in the sample. A wavelength of 292 nm, which lies in the middle of the isosbestic region, was chosen for online UV analysis. Absorbances were found to be linear from  $0.5 \,\mu g/mL - 50 \,\mu g/mL$  at 292 nm. This range was used to calculate the E11 value, necessary for on-line UV analysis with the USP IV apparatus. E11 is a composite value relating absorbance, path length and concentration of the samples. Figure 13 shows an overlay of four calibration curves obtained using UV spectrophotometer at 292 nm. The average E11 value obtained was 258.62, with a relative standard deviation of 4.05 %.



**Figure 12. Determination of Isosbestic Region.** MIN samples in 0.1% sodium azide in PBS ( $25 \mu g/mL$ ) were kept at 37°C under mild shaking for a period of 5 days. Samples were collected daily and their UV spectra were obtained. All UV spectra showed almost constant absorbance in the region between 276 - 312 nm. This region is called the isosbestic region. A wavelength of 292 nm, which lies in the middle of this range, was chosen for online UV analysis.


Figure 13. Overlay of Calibration Curves of MIN ( $0.5 - 50 \mu g/mL$  in 0.1% sodium azide in PBS) used for E11 Calculation at 292 nm. The E11 values were calculated on different days and using different lots of dissolution media. The average E11 values was found to be 258.62, with a relative standard deviation of 4.05 %.

### 4.3 Analysis of Samples using the USP IV Apparatus

USP IV dissolution apparatus was utilized to assess dissolution of MIN solution, Arestin®, and the prepared microparticle panels to test the reproducibility and discriminatory ability of the method.

### 4.3.1 MIN Solution

Figure 14 shows the release profile of MIN solution (1 mg/mL) using the USP IV method. Complete release (100%) of MIN was observed within 4 hours and the drug release remains almost constant up to 3 days. The release reached a plateau in 6 hours, indicating that the release of MIN is not affected by the dialysis membrane. The release remained constant over a period of 3 days, suggesting that the isosbestic point can be reliably used to test MIN release from microparticles. The greater than 100% release observed is attributed to possible interference from unknown degradants formed during degradation affecting the sensitivity of detection. This result further supports the use of USP IV method for a semi-quantitative comparison of dissolution profiles.



**Figure 14. Release of Minocycline Solution in USP IV Method.** MIN solution (1 mg/mL) was added to Float-A-Lyzer® dialysis devices of 50 kDa MWCO. The dialysis devices were inserted in USP IV flow-through cells and incubated at 37°C. Dissolution cells were subjected to a continous flow of 0.1% sodium azide in PBS at 10 mL/min for a period of 3 days. At predetermined intervals, samples were analyzed by an online UV-Vis spectrophotometer at

isosbestic point. Results are presented as Mean  $\pm$  SD of n=5 samples. Complete release of MIN was observed within 6 hours and the release profile remained constant over a period of 3 days.

# 4.3.2 Arestin®

Figure 15 shows the dissolution profile of Arestin® obtained using the USP IV method. The release profile resembled zero-order release kinetics for the first 13 hours (70 % drug released), after which the release approached a plateau. About 85 % of MIN releases within 1 day and complete release is observed within 3 days.



Figure 15. Drug Release of Arestin® Microparticles from USP IV Method. Two units of Arestin® were added to Float-A-Lyzer® dialysis devices of 50 kDa MWCO. The dialysis devices were inserted in USP IV flow-through cells and incubated at  $37^{\circ}$ C. Dissolution cells were subjected to a continous flow of 0.1% sodium azide in PBS at 10 mL/min for a period of 3 days. At predetermined intervals, samples were analyzed by an online UV-Vis spectrophotometer at isosbestic point. Results are presented as Mean ± SD of n=3 samples. About 85 % MIN releases within 1 day and complete release is observed at the end of 3 days.

### 4.3.3 Panel A Microparticles (Process Changes)

The dissolution profiles of Panel A microparticles (process changes) are shown in Figure 16. Both, 0.05H and 0.1L microparticles release about 70 % of the drug over 3 days but demonstrate differences in release profiles. Microparticles 0.05H exhibit a faster release while 0.1L microparticles release in a more sustained fashion. Microparticles 0.0625M release about 60 % MIN over a period of 3 days. Microparticles 0.025H release the least cumulative amount of MIN, with about 15 % of MIN released over 3 days. Table 10 lists the *f*1 (difference) and *f*2 (similarity) values of the dissolution profiles of Panel A microparticles. *f*1 and *f*2 values are calculated to statistically evaluate the similarities and differences between dissolution profiles. *f*1 values above 15 and *f*2 values below 50 indicate that the dissolution profiles are *not* similar to each other. As seen from Table 10, none of the dissolution curves were found to be *f*1-*f*2 similar to each other, indicating that the USP IV method could discriminate between microparticles produced using different process parameters.



Figure 16. Drug Release Profiles of Panel A Microparticles (Process Changes) Obtained Using USP IV Method. About 10 mg of microparticles were added to Float-A-Lyzer® dialysis devices of 50 kDa MWCO. The dialysis devices were inserted in USP IV flow-through cells and incubated at 37°C. Dissolution cells were subjected to a continous flow of 0.1% sodium azide in PBS at 10 mL/min for a period of 3 days. At predetermined intervals, samples were analyzed by an online UV-Vis spectrophotometer at isosbestic point. Results are presented as Mean  $\pm$  SD of n=3 samples. The USP IV method could successfully discriminate between microparticles of Panel A.

Table 10. Statistical Analysis of Dissolution Profiles of Panel A Microparticles. Numbers in bold denote

| 50 | )  | Ĵ  | )  | )  |    | ļ  | )  | ļ  | ļ  | )  | J  | l |   | ( | Ì | , | , | ) | 5 | 5 | 5 |   |   |  |   | 5 |   |   | 5 |   |   | 5 |   | 5 | 5 | 5 | 5 | 5 | 2 |   | - |  | • | > | > | 2 | , | 2 | 2 | 2 | f | ] | , | • | ) |  | l | ] |  | : | < | < | < | < | • |  | L | l | 1 | ſ | f | j | l | Q | ( | 1 | 5 | 5 | S | t | 1 | i | j | 1 | n | 1 | 1 | ľ | ] | 1 | i | i | j | ] | ι | ۱ | 1 | ľ | ] | ľ | i | j | ľ | 1 | ł |  | ŀ | ĺ | 1 | 1 | i | i | j | 1 | 7 | Ÿ | 1 | 7 | ÿ | ١ | 1 | 1 |  |  | è | • |
|----|----|----|----|----|----|----|----|----|----|----|----|---|---|---|---|---|---|---|---|---|---|---|---|--|---|---|---|---|---|---|---|---|---|---|---|---|---|---|---|---|---|--|---|---|---|---|---|---|---|---|---|---|---|---|---|--|---|---|--|---|---|---|---|---|---|--|---|---|---|---|---|---|---|---|---|---|---|---|---|---|---|---|---|---|---|---|---|---|---|---|---|---|---|---|---|---|---|---|---|---|---|---|---|---|---|--|---|---|---|---|---|---|---|---|---|---|---|---|---|---|---|---|--|--|---|---|
|    | 5( | 50 | 50 | 50 | 50 | 50 | 50 | 50 | 50 | 50 | 50 | 5 | 5 | 5 | 5 | 5 | 5 | 5 | 5 | 5 | 5 | - | - |  | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | - | 5 | 5 | 5 | 5 | - |   | - |   |  | • | > | > | 2 | , | 2 | 2 | 2 | f | ] | , | • | ) |  | l | ] |  | : | < | < | < | < | • |  | L | l | 1 | ſ | f | j | l | Q | ( | 1 | 5 | 5 | S | t | 1 | i | j | 1 | n | 1 | 1 | ľ | ] | 1 | i | i | j | ] | ι | ۱ | 1 | ľ | ] | ľ | i | j | ľ | 1 | ł |  | ŀ | ĺ | 1 | 1 | i | i | j | 1 | 7 | Ÿ | 1 | 7 | ÿ | ١ | 1 | 1 |  |  | è | • |

|                    | Difference Factor (f1) | Similarity Factor (f2) | Similar? |
|--------------------|------------------------|------------------------|----------|
| 0.025H vs. 0.0625M | 233.51                 | 23.97                  | Ν        |
| 0.0625M vs. 0.1L   | 17.40                  | 54.23                  | Ν        |
| 0.1L vs. 0.025H    | 72.50                  | 20.54                  | Ν        |
| 0.025H vs. 0.05H   | 322.88                 | 17.92                  | Ν        |
| 0.0625M vs. 0.05H  | 26.80                  | 45.74                  | Ν        |
| 0.1L vs. 0.05H     | 21.05                  | 43.10                  | Ν        |

Previous studies have shown that drug release profiles can be normalized to the total amount of drug released in order to compare the mechanism of drug release from dosage forms [114-116]. Thus, in order to compare the way in which MIN releases from Panel A microparticles, the dissolution profiles obtained using the USP IV method were normalized to the total amount of MIN released. Figure 17 shows these normalized dissolution profiles of Panel A microparticles. Note that the normalized drug release profile of 0.025H microparticles in very uneven. This can be attributed to the low amounts of drug released from the microparticles, which may have fallen below the sensitivity of the method. A crude comparison of dissolution profiles indicates that increase in stir rate increases the burst release properties of microparticles (Figure 17), while the solvent ratio may affect the total amount of MIN that is released from the microparticles (Figure 16). However, there are multiple variables that can affect the drug release profiles of microparticles. Thus, additional information is needed before any conclusions about the effect of microparticle properties on drug release profiles can be made. Nevertheless, normalization of drugs release profiles removes bias caused due to differences in cumulative amount of drug released. Thus, normalization facilitates a fair comparison of drug release profiles of different microparticles.



Figure 17. Drug Release Profiles of Panel A Microparticles Normalized to Total Drug Released. Drug release profiles of Panel A microparticles (process changes) that were obtained using the USP IV apparatus were normalized to the total amount of MIN released over a period of 3 days. Normalization was carried out to understand the way in which MIN releases from the microparticles. Results are reported as Mean  $\pm$  SD of n=3 samples. A basic comparison of dissolution profiles suggests that increase in stir rate causes an increase in burst release from microparticles (as for microparticles 0.025H and 0.05H) while reducing stir rate causes a more sustained release (0.0625M and 0.1L).

### **4.3.4** Panel B Microparticles (Formulation Changes)

Figure 18 shows the dissolution profiles of microparticles differing in composition. Microparticles 85H released the highest amount of MIN, about 60 %, whereas 85L released the lowest amount of MIN. Given the sensitivity limitations of this method, such low drug release cannot be quantified. Microparticles 50H, 75L and 50L released about 40 %, 25 % and 10 % of

MIN over the test duration. Overall, The USP IV method could successfully discriminated between the microparticles of Panel B.



**Figure 18. Dissolution Profiles of Panel B Microparticles (Formulation Changes) Obtained Using USP IV Method.** About 10 mg of microparticles were added to Float-A-Lyzer® dialysis devices of 50 kDa MWCO. The dialysis devices were inserted in USP IV flow-through cells and incubated at 37°C. Dissolution cells were subjected to a continous flow of 0.1% sodium azide in PBS at 10 mL/min for a period of 3 days. At predetermined intervals, samples were analyzed by an online UV-Vis spectrophotometer at isosbestic point. Results are presented as Mean ± SD of n=3 samples. The USP IV method could successfully discriminate between microparticles of Panel B.

Different batches of 85H microparticles were prepared and tested using the developed USP IV method to assess if the method could identify batch-to-batch differences between microparticles. Table 11 shows the characteristics of the multiple 85H batches. Microparticles 85H\_1, 85H\_2 and 85H\_3 were three different batches of 85H that were produced. "Batch 0" is

the original batch that was produced and is included for comparison. Slight differences in drug loading (10-16% w/w) was observed. Two of the three microparticle samples (Batches 1 and 3) showed similar dissolution profiles (Figure 19, Table 12), releasing about 80 % MIN over a period of 3 days. One batch (Batch 2) showed a different drug release profile, releasing a cumulative of 60 % MIN over 3 days, similar to the original batch (Batch 0).

| Microparticle | Particle Size (µm) | Drug Loading (%)  | Tg    | (°C)     |
|---------------|--------------------|-------------------|-------|----------|
|               |                    | 21 ug 10uung (70) | Onset | Midpoint |
| 85H_1         | 40.96±11.24        | 13.34             | 52.09 | 54.88    |
| 85H_2         | 43.51±12.00        | 11.07             | 52.15 | 54.68    |
| 85H_3         | 43.25±9.87         | 10.44             | 51.56 | 54.17    |
| 85H_Batch0    | 33.9±11.19         | 15.50             | 51.62 | 54.28    |

Table 11. Characteristics of 85H Reproducibility Batches



**Figure 19. Dissolution Profiles of Multiple Batches of 85H.** About 10 mg of microparticles were added to Float-A-Lyzer® dialysis devices of 50 kDa MWCO. The dialysis devices were inserted in USP IV flow-through cells and incubated at 37°C. Dissolution cells were subjected to a continous flow of 0.1% sodium azide in PBS at 10 mL/min for a period of 3 days. At predetermined intervals, samples were analyzed by an online UV-Vis spectrophotometer at isosbestic point. Results are presented as Mean  $\pm$  SD of n=3 samples. The microparticles showed lot-to-lot differences, which could be identified using the USP IV method.

|                 | Difference Factor (f1) | Similarity Factor (f2) | Similar? |
|-----------------|------------------------|------------------------|----------|
| 85H_1 vs. 85H_2 | 19.84                  | 42.51                  | Ν        |
| 85H_2 vs. 85H_3 | 24.37                  | 41.23                  | Ν        |
| 85H_1 vs. 85H_3 | 3.86                   | 74.92                  | Y        |
| 85H_1 vs.       | 27 67                  | 37 89                  | N        |
| 85H_Batch0      | 27.07                  | 51.05                  |          |
| 85H_2 vs.       | 11.25                  | 61.51                  | Y        |
| 85H_Batch0      |                        |                        | -        |
| 85H_3 vs.       | 26.81                  | 37.94                  | N        |
| 85H_Batch0      | 20.01                  |                        |          |

Table 12. Statistical Analysis of Dissolution Profiles of Multiple 85H Batches. Numbers in bold denote valueswhich are within limits (f1 < 15, f2 > 50).

# 4.3.5 Method Reproducibility

Arestin<sup>®</sup> dissolution was performed at three different times by two analysts using the USP IV method to check for reproducibility of the method. As seen in Figure 20, all three Arestin<sup>®</sup> runs were found to be f1- f2 similar to each other. The f1 and f2 comparisons of the obtained dissolution profiles are listed in Table 13. All values fall within the range, confirming the repeatability of the method.



Figure 20. Overlay of Dissolution Profiles of Three Arestin® Runs. Two units of Arestin® were added to Float-A-Lyzer® dialysis devices of 50 kDa MWCO. The dialysis devices were inserted in USP IV flow-through cells and incubated at 37°C. Dissolution cells were subjected to a continous flow of 0.1% sodium azide in PBS at 10 mL/min for a period of 3 days. At predetermined intervals, samples were analyzed by an online UV-Vis spectrophotometer at isosbestic point. Results are presented as Mean  $\pm$  SD of n=3 samples of 3 individual runs of Arestin®. All three runs of Arestin® were similar to each other, indicating that the method is reproducible.

Table 13. Statistical Analysis of Dissolution Profiles of Multiple Runs of Arestin®. Numbers in bold denotevalues which are within limits (f1 < 15, f2 > 50).

|                 | Difference Factor (f1) | Similarity Factor (f2) | Similar? |
|-----------------|------------------------|------------------------|----------|
| Run 1 vs. Run 2 | 3.48                   | 77.05                  | Y        |
| Run 2 vs. Run 3 | 6.96                   | 64.74                  | Y        |
| Run 3 vs. Run 1 | 10.55                  | 56.55                  | Y        |

#### 4.4 Analysis of Microparticles using the Small Volume Method

The SVM was evaluated using microparticles of Panel B to assess its discriminatory potential and reproducibility. The effect of flow rate on drug release of MIN solution and Arestin® was also assessed. The discriminatory ability was assessed by performing dissolution of Panel B microparticles (compositional changes). The reproducibility of the method was determined by performing the dissolution of Arestin® microparticles multiple times.

### 4.4.1 Analysis of MIN by UPLC

A stability-indicating UPLC assay was developed and qualified for use in-house. The method was used for analyzing drug content of microparticles and dissolution samples. Figure 21 shows a representative chromatogram. The method was linear in the concentration range of 0.125 – 50  $\mu$ g/mL (Figure 22). Dissolution samples were collected during the biorelevant test and stored at -80°C prior to analysis. The stability of samples (20 and 50  $\mu$ g/mL) was measured in 20 % acetonitrile in sGCF over a period of 7 months. A percent recovery of 97 – 101 % was obtained, which suggested that the dissolution samples were stable during the time frame. Stability of the samples on tray by measuring % recovery of QC samples (20  $\mu$ g/mL) over 53 hours. More than 95 % recovery was obtained over the time frame, suggesting that the samples were stable on tray.



| Degradant       | Retention Time (min) | Relative Retention Time |
|-----------------|----------------------|-------------------------|
| Epimer          | 1.394                | 0.425                   |
| Minocycline HCl | 3.278                | 1.000                   |

Figure 21. Representative Chromatogram of Arestin® Dissolution Sample



Figure 22. Overaly of Three Calibration Curves of MIN in 20 % acetonitrile in sGCF

#### 4.4.2 MIN solution

Figure 23 shows the dissolution profiles of MIN solution (2 mg/mL) performed using flow rates of 0.5  $\mu$ L/min, 2  $\mu$ L/min and 10  $\mu$ L/min. As expected, release of MIN solution was dependent on the flow rate used. The time to reach plateau decreased from 4 days for 0.5  $\mu$ L/min to 22 hours for 2  $\mu$ L/min and 9 hours for 10  $\mu$ L/min. This result suggests that the release of MIN is dependent on the concentration flux created inside the dissolution cells and is not a function of membrane permeability.



Figure 23. Effect of Flow Rate on Release of Minocycline Solution from Small Volume Method. Two-hundred and fifty microliters of MIN solution (2 mg/mL in sGCF) was added to dialysis enclosures of 50 kDa MWCO. The dialysis enclosure was incubated at 37°C and subjected to continous flow of sGCF at 0.5, 2 or 10  $\mu$ L/min. Samples were collected at regular intervals and analyzed for MIN content by a UPLC-based assay. Results are presented as Mean  $\pm$  SD of n=4 samples. Increase in flow rate increases the rate of release of MIN from the dialysis enclosure, indicating that the release of MIN depends on the concentration gradient and is not affected by the dialysis membrane.

# 4.4.3 Arestin®

Arestin showed a cumulative release of about 65 % over 2 weeks (Figure 24) in the biorelevant method. A fairly constant release was observed until a period of 5 days, after which the release plateaued.



Figure 24. Drug Release from Arestin® Obtained by Small Volume Method. One unit of Arestin® was dispersed in 250  $\mu$ L of sGCF in dialysis enclosures of 50 kDa MWCO. The dialysis enclosure was incubated at 37°C and subjected to continous flow of sGCF at 0.5  $\mu$ L/min. Samples were collected daily and analyzed for MIN content by a UPLC-based assay. Results are presented as Mean ± SD of n=4 samples. A fairly constant release is observed during the initial 5 days, after which the release plateaus.

In order to assess the effect of flow rate on dissolution of Arestin®, experiments were performed at 0.5 and 2  $\mu$ L/min flow rates. Dissolution profiles of Arestin® at 0.5 and 2  $\mu$ L/min are shown in Figure 24. Because the sampling time points did not match between these runs, the

dissolution data was fitted with a polynomial function (Figure 26) to obtain predicted % dissolved values from the trendlines. The release profiles were analyzed for similarity (*f*2) and difference (*f*1) factors. As seen in Table 14, flow rate did not have a significant impact on drug release from Arestin®, although an increased dissolution trend was observed with higher flow rate. It has been reported that the flow rates in the gingival pocket range from  $0.33 - 2.24 \mu L/min$  [90]. These results indicate that the release of MIN from Arestin® microparticles is independent of the flow rates present clinically. However, the dissolution may be affected with further increase (or decrease) in flow rates, which was not evaluated in this study.



Figure 25. Drug Release from Arestin® in Small Volume Method at Different Flow Rates. One unit of Arestin® was dispersed in 250  $\mu$ L of sGCF in dialysis enclosures of 50 kDa MWCO. The dialysis enclosure was incubated at 37°C and subjected to continous flow of sGCF at 0.5 or 2  $\mu$ L/min. Samples were collected daily and analyzed for MIN content by a UPLC-based assay. Results are presented as Mean ± SD of n=4 samples. The release of Arestin® is fairly constant under the clinical relevant flow rates of 0.5 and 2  $\mu$ L/min.



Figure 26. Fitting of Polynomial Trendline to Obtained Drug Release Profiles of Arestin<sup>®</sup>. The dissolution profiles of Arestin<sup>®</sup> obtained using flow rates of 0.5 and 2  $\mu$ L/min were acquired at different timepoints. Similar timepoints are required in order to calculate *f*1 and *f*2 values to compare the dissolution profiles. Thus, the profiles were fitted onto polynomial curves and % dissolved values at pre-determines timepoints were estimated. These estimated values were used to calculate the *f*1 and *f*2 values for comparing the two profiles.

Table 14. Statistical Analysis of Drug Release Profiles of Arestin® at 0.5 and 2  $\mu$ L/min Flow Rate. Numbers in bold denote values which are within limits (f1 < 15, f2 > 50).

|                               | Difference Factor (f1) | Similarity Factor (f2) | Similar? |
|-------------------------------|------------------------|------------------------|----------|
| Arestin® at 0.5 µL/min        | 13.64                  | 55.40                  | Y        |
| vs. Arestin® at $2 \mu$ L/min |                        |                        |          |

# 4.4.4 Panel B Microparticles (Formulation Changes)

The small volume dissolution profiles of Panel B microparticles (differing in composition) are shown in Figure 27. The rank order of microparticles (85H > 50H > 75L > 50L > 85L) is same as that observed with the USP IV method. However, the cumulative amount of MIN released within 14 days is less than the MIN amount released over 3 days in the USP IV method. As seen

in Figure 27, the small volume dissolution method could effectively discriminate between the prepared microparticles that are compositionally different.



Figure 27. Drug Release Profiles of Panel B Microparticles (Formulation Chnages) Obtained Using Small Volume Method. Around 10 mg of microparticles were dispersed in 250  $\mu$ L of sGCF in dialysis enclosures of 50 kDa MWCO. The dialysis enclosure was incubated at 37°C and subjected to continous flow of sGCF at 0.5  $\mu$ L/min. Samples were collected daily and analyzed for MIN content by a UPLC-based assay. Results are presented as Mean  $\pm$  SD of n=4 samples. The biorelevant method could successfully discriminate between microparticles of Panel B. The rank order of release from microparticles is constant between the USP IV and biorelevant methods.

### 4.4.5 Method Reproducibility

Dissolution of Arestin<sup>®</sup> was performed three times using the SVM to check for reproducibility of the method. Two different batches of Arestin<sup>®</sup> were run at different times. As seen in Figure 28, two of the three Arestin<sup>®</sup> runs were f1-f2 similar to each other and different

than the first run (original run). The f1 and f2 comparisons of the obtained dissolution profiles are listed in Table 15. These results can indicate differences between Arestin® batches, as the runs performed using the same batch (Run #2 and Run #3) are shown to be f1- f2 similar.



Figure 28. Dissolution Profiles of three Arestin® Runs Obtained Using Small Volume Method. One unit of Arestin® was dispersed in 250  $\mu$ L of sGCF in dialysis enclosures of 50 kDa MWCO. The dialysis enclosure was incubated at 37°C and subjected to continous flow of sGCF at 0.5  $\mu$ L/min. Samples were collected daily and analyzed for MIN content by a UPLC-based assay. Results are presented as Mean ± SD of n=4 samples of 3 individual runs of Arestin® microparticles. Runs #2 and #3 were similar to each other and different to run #1. The differences between runs can be attributed to differences between lots of Arestin®.

Table 15. Statistical Analysis of Dissolution Profiles of Multiple Runs of Arestin®. Numbers in bold denote

|                 | Difference Factor (f1) | Similarity Factor (f2) | Similar? |
|-----------------|------------------------|------------------------|----------|
| Run 1 vs. Run 2 | 23.91                  | 43.78                  | Ν        |
| Run 2 vs. Run 3 | 5.85                   | 78.33                  | Y        |
| Run 3 vs. Run 1 | 39.27                  | 40.26                  | Ν        |

values which are within limits (f1 < 15, f2 > 50).

### **5.0 Discussion**

There are several methods reported in the literature that can be used to evaluate drug release from PLGA microparticles [17, 44-46, 55, 61, 117, 118]. Many of these tests are conducted for microparticles that are developed for parenteral administration. For microparticles intended to be administered in the periodontal pocket (such as Arestin®), the current USP method utilizes a sample-and-separate type approach. This method utilizes agitation forces during incubation and is not biorelevant. The discriminatory potential of the method has also not been reported. Given these limitations, the current work attempts to address some of the limitations of the currently used methods by developing a novel, more biorelevant dissolution method. Further, attempts were made to develop a rapid screening method utilizing a compendial-level standardized USP IV apparatus. This method can be used during routine quality control analysis. Both the developed methods were shown to be discriminatory and reproducible.

# 5.1 Selection of Test Conditions for Dissolution Methods

As discussed previously, there are multiple variables that need to be determined while developing a dissolution method. In general, the dissolution media, test temperature, type and rate of agitation and method of analysis need to be defined. Type of pump and flow rate are important variables that need to be determined for continuous flow methods. For dialysis-based methods, the MWCO of the membrane and the volume-ratio of inner chamber to outer chamber are essential. The USP IV method was designed to be a quick method for screening of microparticles. An easy-to-prepare and widely used dissolution media was selected for rapid analysis. The USP IV method was operated under closed-loop configuration at a flow rate of 10 mL/min. An internal volume of 1.8 mL and a reservoir volume of 80 mL was used for the method. The test was carried out at a physiological temperature of 37°C. Selection of MWCO of the dialysis membrane was based on the molecular size of MIN (~ 494 Da). It is reported that the MWCO of dialysis membranes should be around 100 times more than the molecular size [119]. Hence, a Float-A-Lyzer® device of MWCO of 50,000 Da (50 kDa) was used for the method.

It has been previously reported that MIN undergoes extensive degradation in PBS [108]. About 10 % MIN degrades within an hour at 37°C. PLGA microparticles have been reported to release drug in multiple phases. The first "burst release" phase is usually controlled by diffusion. The second phase is usually a "lag phase" which is the phase of lower drug release. This phase is followed by the third phase of "second burst release" which is controlled by polymer erosion [63]. During the "lag" phase, the amount of drug released will be lower than the amount of drug being degraded in the release medium. Thus, the apparent MIN concentration in the release medium will continuously reduce over 3 days due to degradation instead of remaining constant, posing a challenge for development of an online-UV assay. This problem was partially solved by measuring drug release at isosbestic point. As seen in Figure 12, MIN displays near constant absorbance in the isosbestic region between 276 - 312 nm, where the absorbance of the sample is proportional to the total concentration of MIN and its degradants. A wavelength of 292 nm, which lies approximately in the middle of this range was selected for online UV analysis. The choice of wavelength was confirmed by evaluating drug release from MIN solution in the USP IV method. As seen from Figure 14, the drug release from MIN solution plateaus in about 6 hours and remains

constant (instead of reducing) over a period of 3 days, justifying the choice of wavelength for online-UV analysis.

For the biorelevant SVM, sGCF was developed and used as the biorelevant release media. The sGCF simulates the ionic strength of the major ions present in GCF, pH, and to some extent the protein content. The actual protein content of GCF is significantly high and poses challenges to simulate *in vitro*. The test was run at a physiological temperature of  $37^{\circ}$ C. Arestin® microparticles adhere to the gums immediately after insertion [120]. Thus, the use of any type of agitation to decrease the presence of unstirred layers surrounding the dialysis tubes is not biorelevant and was avoided. A dialysis-based method was selected as it serves a dual purpose. First, the dialysis enclosure contains microparticles and separates them from the dissolution media. Secondly, they more closely mimic *in vivo* settings where microparticles are deposited in the periodontal pocket and become immobilized, surrounded by a layer of unstirred fluid (GCF) [121]. The SVM was run at the biorelevant flow rate of 0.5 µL/min in an open loop configuration, to mimic the continuous flow and replenishment of GCF as experienced *in vivo*.

A media volume of 250  $\mu$ L in the inner chamber was utilized in the SVM. Though a volume of 250  $\mu$ L is not biorelevant, it is more practical to use in an *in vitro* setting. In order to maintain an appropriate concentration gradient between the inside and outside of a dialysis membrane, the volume outside the dialysis enclosure should be 6-10 times more than the volume inside [44]. However, this requirement holds for pure dialysis methods that are not under continuous flow of media. In our setting, at any given point of time, the media in the outer chamber is about 3 times the media in the inner chamber. However, media is continuously flowing through the dissolution cells, replenishing the dissolution media present outside the dialysis membrane. This continuous media flow should help in maintaining the concentration gradient. Moreover, since the SVM is a biorelevant method, it is not subject to the requirements of general dialysis-based methods, which do not mimic *in vivo* conditions. Of note, the requirement for sink may be met in the dialysis enclosure. However, the rate of media replenishment outside the dialysis membrane affects drug diffusion and may impact release from the microparticles.

In order to quantify the amount of MIN released during the biorelevant dissolution run, a stability-indicating UPLC-based assay was utilized. Only the MIN peak, and not the epimer or other degradant peaks, was considered to account for the percent drug released. Thus, the SVM is a quantitative method that can be utilized to measure the absolute amount of MIN released over the test period.

#### **5.2 Effect of Flow Rate on Drug Release**

The effect of flow rate on release of MIN solution and Arestin® was assessed using the SVM. MIN solution (2 mg/mL) was subjected to dissolution using SVA at flow rates of 0.5, 2 and 10  $\mu$ L/min. Since MIN solution had drug in dissolved state, the amount of MIN released will depend on two factors: a) rate of re-establishment of concentration gradient between the sGCF in the inner and outer chambers and b) the diffusibility of MIN across the dialysis membrane. When the flow rate is increased, media in the outer chamber is replenished at a faster rate, which increases the concentration gradient between the inner and outer chambers. Increased flow rate also reduces the layer of unstirred water molecules on the boundary of the dialysis membrane [44]. Thus, higher flow rate is expected to increase the rate of drug release, which was observed in case of MIN solution (Figure 23). Greater than 90 % MIN solution is released within 24 hours at 2 and 10  $\mu$ L/min flow rate, suggesting that the low release observed in the 0.5  $\mu$ L/min run is due to a low

concentration flux and not because of the barrier properties of dialysis membrane. Interestingly, when MIN solution was evaluated for drug release at a flow rate of 0.5  $\mu$ L/min, the release approached a plateau at ~ 80 % release (~ 5 days). A complete release was not observed. This can be attributed to the degradation of MIN in the dissolution cells and samples as the solutions were exposed to 37°C for prolonged periods of time.

In case of Arestin<sup>®</sup>, increase in flow rate from 0.5 to 2  $\mu$ L/min did not significantly increase the release of MIN (Figure 25, Table 14). A maximum difference of  $\sim 10$  % in the two dissolution profiles was observed at Day 1. This difference was maintained almost constant throughout the run. This can be due to the extended release behavior of Arestin® microparticles. Arestin<sup>®</sup> releases ~20 % of MIN within one day under biorelevant conditions. This amounts to  $200 \,\mu g$  of MIN, released in 250  $\mu L$  of sGCF (inner chamber volume). The final concentration of MIN in the inner chamber is 800  $\mu$ g/mL, which is significantly less than the saturation solubility of MIN in sGCF (> 2 mg/mL). Under higher flow rate, MIN is released faster due to faster reestablishment of concentration gradient between the inner and outer chambers. On the contrary, under lower flow rate, the concentration flux will not be re-established that fast, hindering drug diffusion from inside the inner chamber to outside. This explains the 10 % difference in MIN release observed between 0.5 and 2  $\mu$ L/min flow rates. Interestingly, the flow rate in the periodontal pocket has been reported to be anywhere between  $0.33 - 2.28 \,\mu$ L/min [90]. As seen from Table 14, the release of MIN from Arestin® microparticles does not vary significantly in this clinically relevant range.

It is worthy to note that flow rate is an important parameter when using a purely continuousflow method, where the media comes in direct contact with the test product. In this case, a higher flow rate not only determines the concentration gradient but also interaction between media and test sample. Higher flow rate leads to better hydration of the particles [122], and induce shear depending on the flow regime (laminar vs. turbulent), resulting in higher drug release. However, when the particles are enclosed in a dialysis-sac, flow rate can be expected to have a lesser effect on drug release.

### 5.3 Assessing the Discriminatory Potential of Developed Methods

A good dissolution method for quality control analysis of finished drug products should be able to discriminate between microparticles that are chemically equivalent but may not have similar physical properties. For example, physical properties of microparticles can change due to differences in processing parameters such as stir rate and ratio of solvent [123, 124]. To replicate these differences, microparticles were fabricated using the same raw materials but by deliberately changing the process parameters (stir speed and solvent ratio, see Panel A). The goal of the experiment was to assess if the USP IV method, with potential application in routine quality control analysis, could identify differences between particles that were chemically equivalent but had different physical properties. The prepared microparticles showed differences in particle size, as summarized in Tables 8 and 9. The USP IV method was able to differentiate between microparticles of Panel A (Figure 16, 17, Table 10). Since differences in manufacturing during production usually arise due to deviations in process parameters, the ability of a dissolution method to identify such dissimilarities become crucial.

In order to assess bioequivalence of generic products, the FDA requires generic products to be Q1/Q2 similar to the RLD. Accordingly, a dissolution method intended for bioequivalence testing should be able to discriminate between microparticles that are Q1/Q2 different than the

RLD. Thus, a panel of microparticles that were compositionally different to Arestin® were fabricated. These microparticles had different LA:GA ratios, Mw and drug loading than Arestin® (see Panel B). As seen in Figures 18 and 27, both the developed methods could effectively discriminate between microparticles of Panel B.

In general, the USP IV method operates under conditions that can be considered as 'accelerated' compared to the biorelevant method. The method utilizes a very high flow rate of 10 mL/min, internal volume of 1.8 mL and media reservoir of 80 mL. Although the method utilizes physiological temperature of 37°C, the larger amount of media in the dialysis tube, nature of media and high flow rate can accelerate drug release from microparticles. As reported earlier, increased flow rate causes a greater diffusion flux, resulting in higher diffusion of the drug from inside the dialysis bag to outside [56]. Zolnik, B. S. and colleagues reported that increasing flow rate increases drug release from low Mw PLGA microparticles, with diffusion-controlled release kinetics. However, flow rate did not have any effect on drug release from high Mw PLGA microparticles, which were believed to show erosion-controlled release kinetics [56]. The differences in media flow rate between USP IV method and SVM are significantly higher than reported in the literature, which in combination with the dialysis enclosure volume could impact drug release. The initial burst phase, which is usually diffusion-controlled, is the region that defines the discriminatory potential of a dissolution method. Thus, a slower burst phase, as observed in the SVM, can potentially enable the biorelevant dissolution method to have a better discriminatory potential than the USP IV method.

#### 5.4 Dependence of Rate of Release on Microparticle Properties

In general, it was observed that drug release from microparticles composed of a particular LA:GA ratio depended on the Mw of PLGA. Microparticles composed of higher Mw PLGA released higher amount of MIN than those composed of lower Mw PLGA (Figures 18, 27). As previously mentioned, usually Mw and drug release have an inverse relationship. The opposite effect seen in our studies can be attributed to the following two reasons. First, MIN is a tetracycline analogue with multiple sites of ionization. MIN has four pKas, as depicted in Figure 29A [99, 125]. During dissolution, MIN is already positively charged, which can interact with the acid end groups of PLGA. The effect of ionic interaction between positively charged proteins and uncapped (acid-end) PLGAs on drug release has already been studied by Balmert, S. C. and coworkers [126]. The group showed that positively charged peptides show lesser drug release than neutral peptides. Moreover, drug release of positively charged peptides from higher Mw PLGA was higher than that from lower Mw PLGA. This effect is similar to what was observed in our studies.



Figure 29. (A) Sites of Interaction between MIN and PLGA and (B) Flow Chart Explaining the Relation Between Mw and Drug Release

Another reason for the positive correlation of drug release and Mw can be attributed to faster decrease in intraparticular pH of lower Mw PLGA microparticles. Balmert, S. C. and group reported that the intraparticular pH decreases much faster in case of lower Mw PLGA as compared to higher Mw PLGA [126]. The group found that the intraparticular pH was below 4.5 for lower Mw PLGA (7 and 15 kDa) within 1 hour of incubation in PBS solution. The pH reduced to 3.3 within 3 days and as low as 2.2 within 12 days. In contrast, the pH of higher Mw PLGA (43 kDa), was 6 after 1 hour of incubation in PBS and reduced gradually to 3.2 over 21 days. Thus, the interaction of MIN in microparticles composed of lower Mw PLGA would be stronger than that in higher Mw PLGA, reducing the drug release from microparticles fabricated with lower Mw PLGA (Figure 29B).

It should be noted that, drug release during the initial timepoints can be attributed to unencapsulated drug present at the surface of the microparticles. During this initial phase, drug release will not be dependent on the fraction of MIN that is bound to PLGA within the microparticles. However, once the un-encapsulated drug is released from the microparticles, the effect of interaction of MIN with PLGA becomes more prominent. During this stage, release of MIN is diffusion controlled. Thus, the higher amount of unbound MIN present in microparticles composed of high Mw PLGA would be released faster (and to a greater extent) than from microparticles composed of low Mw PLGA. However, drug-polymer interaction may not significantly affect drug release during the later stages, where drug release is controlled by polymer erosion. Polymer erosion can explain the almost zero-order release of MIN from 50L microparticles (Figure 27). Microparticles 50L are composed of low Mw PLGA (50:50 LA:GA) and can be expected to have the fastest rate of polymer erosion [72].

Other reasons that may affect the release of MIN from microparticles include the internal structure of microparticles, porosity, particle size, drug loading and distribution of drug within the microparticles. There may be differences in the amount of free drug vs. bound drug inside the microparticle, which may affect drug release but has not been accounted for in this work. It is important to note that although attempts have been made to explain the order of drug release from different microparticles using the designed methods, the goal of the study was to assess the discriminatory potential of the method and not study the effects of microparticle properties on release behavior of MIN.

## 5.5 Assessing the Reproducibility of the Methods

It is important for any dissolution method to produce reproducible and reliable results. The reproducibility of the methods was assessed by comparing multiple runs of Arestin®. The same

batch of Arestin<sup>®</sup> microparticles were used to assess repeatability of the USP IV method. Using the same batch assured that the results were not affected by differences in microparticles that may exist between different batches. One of the runs was performed by a second analyst to account for variations between analysts. As seen in Figure 20, the three Arestin<sup>®</sup> dissolution profiles were very similar. Statistical analysis of the dissolution profiles (Table 13) confirm that the dissolution profiles are f1-f2 similar to each other.

Once the reproducibility of the USP IV method was determined, different batches of 85H microparticles were prepared and tested for drug release using the method. As seen in Figure 19 and Table 12, only two of the four batches produced showed f1-f2 similarity in the dissolution profiles. Differences in dissolution profiles may be attributed to the following three factors: variation in the method, batch-to-batch differences between microparticles and differences in sampling. Since the reproducibility of the USP IV method has already been established by comparing multiple runs of Arestin®, differences in dissolution profiles of 85H reproducibility batches can be attributed to batch-to-batch differences or differences in sampling. It has been previously reported that the effect of lot-to-lot differences during dissolution method development can be eliminated by normalizing release profiles to the total amount of drug released [127]. Thus, the obtained drug release profiles of 85H repeatability batches were normalized to the total amount of drug released over 3 days to account for batch-to-batch differences between microparticles. Figure 30 shows the dissolution profiles of 85H repeatability batches upon normalization. When the dissolution profiles were normalized, the profiles were found to be f1/f2 similar (Table 16).



Figure 30. Normalized Dissolution Profiles of 85H Repeatability Batches. Drug release profiles of various batches of 85H microparticles were normalized to the total amount release in order to eliminate batch-to-batch differences between the microparticles. After normalization, the release profiles were found to be f1/f2 similar to each other, indicating that the differences between microparticles are not indicative of method variability.

|                 | Difference Factor (f1) | Similarity Factor (f2) | Similar? |
|-----------------|------------------------|------------------------|----------|
| 85H_1 vs. 85H_2 | 4.79                   | 65.28                  | Y        |
| 85H_2 vs. 85H_3 | 8.87                   | 51.86                  | Y        |
| 85H_1 vs. 85H_3 | 4.81                   | 65.75                  | Y        |
| 85H_1 vs.       | 5.18                   | 66.99                  | Y        |
| 85H_Batch0      |                        |                        |          |
| 85H_2 vs.       | 4.73                   | 64.71                  | Y        |
| 85H_Batch0      |                        |                        |          |

Table 16. Statistical Analysis of Normalized Dissolution Profiles of Multiple 85H Batches. Numbers in bolddenote values which are within limits (f1 < 15, f2 > 50).

| 85H_3 vs.  | 9.25 | 55.71 | Y |
|------------|------|-------|---|
| 85H_Batch0 |      |       |   |

The differences in the total amount of MIN released from 85H microparticles can stem from differences in the internal structure of microparticles, the distribution of MIN within the microparticles, porosity and overall size differences. Moreover, there can be differences in the amount of bound vs. free MIN inside the particles. Free drug diffuses faster than the bound drug, increasing the total amount of MIN released. Thus, to completely understand the drug release behavior of the produced microparticles, a thorough microparticle characterization will have to be performed, which is beyond the scope of this work. Moreover, the clinical relevance of these differences in drug release is not known and will have to be studied to assess the applicability of the method.

For the SVM, two batches of Arestin<sup>®</sup> were used due to unavailability of the same lot. Runs 2 and 3 were similar to each other and different from the first run (Figure 28 and Table 15). The differences in release profiles could be attributed to differences between the lots of Arestin<sup>®</sup>. Runs 2 and 3 were carried out using the same lot of Arestin<sup>®</sup>, while run 1 was carried out on a different lot. To account for batch-to-batch differences between Arestin<sup>®</sup> runs, the release profiles were normalized to the total amount of drug released. Because the sampling time points did not match between the runs, the dissolution data was fitted with a polynomial function to obtain predicted % dissolved values from the trendlines (data not shown). Similarity (*f*2) and difference (*f*1) factors were calculated using these values. After normalization, the dissolution profiles of all Arestin<sup>®</sup> runs were *f*1-*f*2 similar, as seen in Figure 31 and Table 17. This suggests that the individual runs differ in absolute amount of MIN released but not in the way in which they release MIN, which may reflect differences between individual lots of Arestin<sup>®</sup>. Although the different batches of Arestin® show different release profiles in SVM, they may have passed the dissolution test as per USP criteria for periodontal systems containing MIN (Table 3), where a minimum of 12.6 % of MIN should be released at the end of 3 days. This argument seems plausible as the lots release at least 32 % MIN over 3 days even in the SVM, under extremely small volumes and flow rates. However, in order to be confident about repeatability of the method, another SVM run of Arestin® using the same lot will have to be performed.



Figure 31. Normalized Dissolution Profiles of the Three Arestin<sup>®</sup> Small Volume Runs. Drug release profiles of three individual Arestin<sup>®</sup> runs carried out using the biorelevant method were normalized to the total amount released. Normalization was done in order to eliminate batch-to-batch differences between the microparticles. After normalization, the release profiles were found to be f1/f2 similar to each other, indicating that the differences between microparticles stem from differences between lots of Arestin<sup>®</sup> and are not indicative of method variability.

|                 | Difference Factor (f1) | Similarity Factor (f2) | Similar? |
|-----------------|------------------------|------------------------|----------|
| Run 1 vs. Run 2 | 1.36                   | 89.47                  | Y        |
| Run 2 vs. Run 3 | 2.17                   | 79.32                  | Y        |
| Run 3 vs. Run 1 | 3.44                   | 72.67                  | Y        |

Table 17. Statistical Analysis of Normalized Dissolution Profiles of Multiple Arestin® Batches. Numbers inbold denote values which are within limits (f1 < 15, f2 > 50).

#### 5.6 Impact of the Work and Potential Applications

Two reliable, discriminatory and reproducible dissolution methods were developed that have distinct advantages over each other. The USP IV method utilizes a compendial dissolution apparatus to test drug release from PLGA microparticles under real-time conditions (37°C). A complete release from Arestin® is achieved within 3 days without employing elevated temperatures. The method is carried out using an online UV-Vis spectrophotometer, which avoids the need to analyze the samples after completion of the run. Data is obtained reasonably fast, reducing the number of person-hours required to carry out the test. Using the USP IV apparatus comes with the inherent advantages of lab-to-lab uniformity, reliability and easy transferability. The method is simple and can be employed during drug development for determining ideal process and formulation parameters. The method can also be used for routine quality control analysis to check for batch-to-batch variability.

The SVM is a novel and more sensitive dissolution method. It provides the most practical representation of the *in vivo* environment for periodontal systems. Currently, there are more than 15 PLGA-based FDA approved products in the market. However, no generic PLGA-based product has received FDA approval as yet. The SVM can potentially be used as an *in vitro* alternative to
test generic versions of Arestin® for bioequivalence. It can also be used in lieu of clinical testing during scale-up of batches and to prove bioequivalence during post-approval changes. Further, given the similarity of test conditions to *in vivo* environment, the antimicrobial activity of the samples collected can be tested and the results can serve as proof of efficacy of the product over a period of 14 days (or longer, unpublished results). SVM can also be used to validate the manufacturing processes on an annual basis during large-scale production of periodontal microparticles. The use of SVM can be extended to test other dosage forms intended for localized delivery in the periodontal pocket.

In fact, the pumps and flow rates can be adjusted to simulate fluid-flow rates present in different parts of the body. The dissolution cells can be agitated to simulate the blinking of eyelids and turnover rate of lacrimal fluid. Thus, the use of the SVA shows promise to test drug release from other micro- and nanoparticulate systems, powders, solutions, suspensions, sprays and other formulations intended to be administered in small cavities such as the nasal, otic and ocular pockets. The small volume cell can also be modified to test drug release from vaginal products. For instance, a miniaturized USP I-type basket can be used as the sample holder. Clips can be utilized to secure the dosage form in the basket. The mesh size of the basket will have to be optimized in order to separate undissolved material from the dissolution media while preventing problems of back-pressure and clogging. The inner chamber can be designed to have a volume of 1 mL and flow rate of  $4.2 \,\mu$ L/min to simulate conditions present in the vagina [41, 128]. Glass beads and agitation can be introduced to simulate mechanical forces normally encountered. Flow rate and agitation can be modified during the run to simulate changes relating to the menstrual cycle.

Overall, the SVA is a novel biorelevant apparatus that has potential for adaptation towards a variety of applications. The SVM described here is the first application and proof-of-concept of the apparatus. The current work focusses on assessing the method's discriminatory ability and reproducibility in an effort to justify the SVA's use for drug release testing of MIN-loaded PLGA microparticles intended for application in the periodontal pocket.

## **5.7 Limitations of the Developed Methods**

Both the developed methods were reproducible and exhibited a good discriminatory potential. Despite this, the developed methods possess certain limitations. Some advantages of the USP IV method include that it quick, it is based on a compendial system and it has an on-line UV system that reports the results without having the need to collect and analyze samples separately. However, since MIN is highly sensitive to hydrolytic degradation, the UV analysis needs to be carried out at isosbestic point. Because the online-UV system measures the total amount (drug + degradants) of MIN released, it does not give the absolute amount of MIN released. Moreover, the method may overestimate the amount of MIN released by up to 20 % for MIN solution. Thus, the drug release profiles may need to be normalized with respect to MIN solution during practical applications. A simple way to improve the sensitivity of the method is to collect samples at predetermined timepoints and analyze them to give the drug release profile. Although more cumbersome, this technique may be more reliable and quantitative, especially for the first 24 hours. However, it should be noted that MIN may degrade into several degradants that do not appear on the chromatogram, making quantitation challenging.

The SVM is a miniaturized version of the USP IV method with modifications that make the method more biorelevant. The method simulates more closely the flow rates, media and volumes that are experienced by periodontal microparticles *in vivo*. Since the length of dissolution study is 2 weeks, its application during formulation development may be met with practical limitations of length timelines. However, SVM may be more applicable to determine bioequivalence of generic and brand name products. Another major limitation of the SVM is that it requires special dissolution cells which are not yet commercially available. The method may also show extremely small differences between microparticles, which may not be clinically relevant. Thus, more work needs to be done to determine the criteria for acceptance of products tested using the SVM.

## **6.0 Conclusion and Future Directions**

Two reliable and reproducible dissolution methods were developed which could successfully discriminate between the prepared comparators. The USP IV method is a rapid dissolution test that can be used in drug development for determining optimum process and formulation parameters. It is semi-quantitative in nature as it provides the overall percentage of MIN released but cannot be used to quantify the absolute amount of MIN released. The method is reproducible and can be reliably used during product development for rapid screening of prototype drug formulations. The SVM has potential to exhibit a better discriminatory power than the USP IV method, as the SVM extends the 'burst phase' drug release from microparticles to ~ 5 days. The SVM can be used to calculate the amount of MIN released over time and is thus quantitative in nature. With certain modifications, the SVA can be used to test other dosage forms intended to be delivered in extremely small cavities, such as the nasal, otic and ocular sacs. The SVM can also be potentially used to test the bioequivalence of different MIN-loaded PLGA microparticles used in periodontitis.

More studies comparing the *in vitro* release data to *in vivo* dissolution profiles will need to be performed in order to determine the clinical relevance of the SVM. The acceptance criteria for products tested with both the methods needs to be established. Future work will also focus on testing microparticles of Panel A (process changes) using the SVM to demonstrate that the method can discriminate between them. The main goal of future experiments would be to compare the *in vitro* and *in vivo* release profiles in order to develop and validate a robust IVIVC.

## Appendix A : Abbreviations Used

| AUC              | : | Area under the curve                              |
|------------------|---|---|
| BA               | : | Bioavailability                                   |
| BCS              | : | Biopharmaceuticals classification system          |
| BE               | : | Bioequivalent                                     |
| CFR              | : | Code of Federal Regulations                       |
| C <sub>max</sub> | : | Maximum plasma concentration                      |
| DCM              | : | Dichloromethane                                   |
| DSC              | : | Differential scanning calorimetry                 |
| ER               | : | Extended-release                                  |
| fl               | : | Difference factor                                 |
| <i>f</i> 2       | : | Similarity factor                                 |
| FDA              | : | Food and Drug Administration                      |
| GCF              | : | Gingival crevicular fluid                         |
| GI               | : | Gastro-intestinal                                 |
| HPLC             | : | High performance liquid chromatography            |
| IUPAC            | : | International Union of Pure and Applied Chemistry |
| IR               | : | Immediate-release                                 |
| IVIVC            | : | In vitro-in vivo correlation                      |
| LA:GA            | : | Lactic acid-to-glycolic acid ratio                |

| MIN  | : | Minocycline hydrochloride                    |
|------|---|--|
| MR   | : | Modified-release                             |
| MWCO | : | Molecular weight cut-off                     |
| NF   | : | National Formulary                           |
| NLT  | : | Not less than                                |
| PBPK | : | Physiologically-based pharmacokinetic model  |
| PDLA | : | Poly(D-lactic acid)                          |
| PGA  | : | Poly(glycolic acid)                          |
| PLA  | : | Poly(lactic acid)                            |
| PLGA | : | Poly(lactic-co-glycolic acid)                |
| PLLA | : | Poly(L-lactic acid)                          |
| QbD  | : | Quality by design                            |
| SEM  | : | Scanning electron microscopy                 |
| sGCF | : | Simulated gingival crevicular fluid          |
| SOP  | : | Standard operating procedure                 |
| SRP  | : | Scaling and root planing                     |
| SVA  | : | Small volume apparatus                       |
| SVM  | : | Small volume method                          |
| Tg   | : | Glass transition temperature                 |
| UPLC | : | Ultra-high performance liquid chromatography |
| USP  | : | United States Pharmacopoeia                  |

## **Bibliography**

- 1. Lu, J. X. and Bhimji, S. S. *Chemistry, Dissolution and Solubility. [Updated 2018 Oct 27]. In: StatPearls [Internet]. Treasure Island (FL): StatPearls Publishing.* Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK431100/.
- 2. Dokoumetzidis, A. and Macheras, P., A century of dissolution research: from Noyes and Whitney to the biopharmaceutics classification system. Int J Pharm, 2006. **321**(1-2) p. 1-11.
- 3. Fotaki, N. and Vertzoni, M., *Biorelevant Dissolution Methods and Their Applications in In Vitro-In Vivo Correlations for Oral Formulations*. The Open Drug Delivery Journal, 2010. **4** p. 2-13.
- 4. McNaught, A. D. and Wilkinson, A., *IUPAC. Compendium of Chemical Terminology, 2nd ed. (the "Gold Book").* 1997, Blackwell Scientific Publications, Oxford.
- 5. Noyes, A. A. and Whitney, W. R., *The rate of solution of solid substances in their own solutions* Journal of the American Chemical Society, 1897. **19**(12) p. 930-934.
- 6. Siepmann, J. and Siepmann, F., *Mathematical modeling of drug dissolution*. International Journal of Pharmaceutics, 2013. **453**(1) p. 12-24.
- 7. Hixson, A. W. and Crowell, J. H., *Dependence of Reaction Velocity upon surface and Agitation*. Industrial & Engineering Chemistry, 1931. **23**(8) p. 923-931.
- 8. Morrison, A. B. and Campbell, J. A., *Tablet disintegration and physiological availability of drugs*. 1965. **54**(1) p. 1-8.
- 9. MacLeod, C., *et al.*, *Comparative bioavailability of three brands of ampicillin*. Canadian Medical Association journal, 1972. **107**(3) p. 203-209.
- 10. Varley, A. B., *The Generic Inequivalence of Drugs*. JAMA, 1968. **206**(8) p. 1745-1748.
- 11. Campagna, F. A., *et al.*, *Inactive prednisone tablets U.S.P. XVI.* J Pharm Sci, 1963. **52** p. 605-606.

- 12. What is the USP dissolution test? cited 2019 13 February; Available from: http://www.usp.org/chemical-medicines/dissolution-explained.
- 13. USP, <1092> The Dissolution Procedure: Development and Validation. 2014.
- 14. Anand, O., *et al.*, *Dissolution testing for generic drugs: an FDA perspective*. AAPS J 2011. **13**(3) p. 328-335.
- 15. Siewert, M., et al., FIP/AAPS guidelines to dissolution/in vitro release testing of novel/special dosage forms. AAPS PharmSciTech, 2003. **4**(1) p. E7.
- 16. USP, First Supplement to USP 40–NF 35. <1225> Validation of Compendial Procedures.
- 17. Shen, J. and Burgess, D. J., *In Vitro Dissolution Testing Strategies for Nanoparticulate Drug Delivery Systems: Recent Developments and Challenges.* Drug delivery and translational research, 2013. **3**(5) p. 409-415.
- 18. Dressman, J. B., *et al.*, *Dissolution testing as a prognostic tool for oral drug absorption: immediate release dosage forms.* Pharm Res, 1998. **15**(1) p. 11-22.
- 19. Dickinson, P. A., *et al.*, *Clinical relevance of dissolution testing in quality by design*. The AAPS journal, 2008. **10**(2) p. 380-390.
- 20. Chow, S. C., Liu, J.p., Schucany, W., *Statistical Design and Analysis in Pharmaceutical Science.*, ed. Raton, B. 1995: CRC Press.
- 21. Food and Drug Administration, *Guidance for Industry- Dissolution Testing of Immediate Release Solid Oral Dosage Forms.* 1997.
- 22. FDA Guidance for Industry: SUPAC-IR Immediate Release Solid Oral Dosage Forms, Scale - Up and Post-approval Changes: Chemistry, Manufacturing, and Controls, In Vitro Dissolution Testing, In Vivo Bioequivalence Documentation, 1995. CDER.
- 23. Hebert, M., *Impact of Pregnancy on Maternal Pharmacokinetics of Medications*. Vol. 20. 2013. 17-39.

- 24. Shien-Chung Chow, J.-p. L., *Design and Analysis of Bioavailability and Bioequivalence Studies*. 2nd ed. Biostatistics: A Series of References and Textbooks, ed. Chow, S.-C. 2000, New York: Marcel Dekker.
- 25. Chow, S.-C., *Bioavailability and bioequivalence in drug development*. Wiley Interdisciplinary Reviews: Computational Statistics, 2014. **6**(4) p. 304-312.
- 26. Galgatte, U. C., et al., Study on requirements of bioequivalence for registration of pharmaceutical products in USA, Europe and Canada. Saudi Pharmaceutical Journal, 2014. **22**(5) p. 391-402.
- 27. What is Bioavailability and Bioequivalence. 05 March 2019; Available from: https://bpac.org.nz/bpj/2009/generics/bio.aspx.
- 28. Office of Technology Assessment Drug Bioequivalence Study Panel, Drug Bioequivalence. 1974.
- 29. Chen, M. L., *et al.*, *Bioavailability and bioequivalence: an FDA regulatory overview*. Pharm Res, 2001. **18**(12) p. 1645-1650.
- 30. *21 C. F. R. § 320.24.* 2018.
- 31. Amidon, G. L., *et al.*, *A theoretical basis for a biopharmaceutic drug classification: the correlation of in vitro drug product dissolution and in vivo bioavailability.* Pharm Res, 1995. **12**(3) p. 413-420.
- 32. FDA Center for Drug Evaluation and Research (CDER), *Guidance for Industry Waiver* of In Vivo Bioavailability and Bioequivalence Studies for Immediate-Release Solid Oral Dosage Forms Based on a Biopharmaceutics Classification System. 2017.
- 33. USP, <711> Dissolution. 2016.
- 34. USP, <724> Drug Release. 2012.
- 35. *Question and Answer Section with William Brown and Margareth Marques*. Available from: <u>http://www.dissolutiontech.com/DTresour/200502Articles/DT200502\_QA.html</u>.

- 36. Food and Drug Administration, *Guidance for Industry Extended Release Oral Dosage Forms: Development, Evaluation, and Application of In Vitro/In Vivo Correlations.* 1997.
- 37. Sau Lawrence Lee, A. S. R., Lawrence Yu, *Dissolution Testing*, in *Biopharmaceutics Applications in Drug Development*, Rajesh Krishna, L. Y., Editor. 2007, Springer.
- 38. Markopoulos, C., et al., In-vitro simulation of luminal conditions for evaluation of performance of oral drug products: Choosing the appropriate test media. European Journal of Pharmaceutics and Biopharmaceutics, 2015. **93** p. 173-182.
- 39. Dressman, J. B., *Dissolution Testing of Immediate-Release Products and Its Application to Forecasting In Vivo Performance*, in *Oral Drug Absorption - Prediction and Assessment*, Jennifer B. Dressman, H. L., Editor. 2000, Marcel Dekker, Inc.: New York. p. 155-182.
- 40. Thing, M., et al., Simulated synovial fluids for in vitro drug and prodrug release testing of depot injectables intended for joint injection. Journal of Drug Delivery Science and Technology, 2019. **49** p. 169-176.
- 41. Owen, D. H. and Katz, D. F., *A vaginal fluid simulant*. Contraception, 1999. **59**(2) p. 91-95.
- 42. Vertzoni, M., et al., Biorelevant Media to Simulate Fluids in the Ascending Colon of Humans and Their Usefulness in Predicting Intracolonic Drug Solubility. Pharmaceutical Research, 2010. **27**(10) p. 2187-2196.
- 43. Marques, M., Löbenberg, R., and Almukainzi, M., *Simulated Biological Fluids with Possible Application in Dissolution Testing*. Vol. 18. 2011. 15-28.
- 44. D'Souza, S. S. and DeLuca, P. P., *Methods to assess in vitro drug release from injectable polymeric particulate systems*. Pharm Res, 2006. **23**(3) p. 460-474.
- 45. Amatya, S., et al., Drug release testing methods of polymeric particulate drug formulations. Vol. 43. 2013.
- 46. Andhariya, J. V. and Burgess, D. J., *Recent advances in testing of microsphere drug delivery systems*. Expert Opinion on Drug Delivery, 2016. **13**(4) p. 593-608.

- 47. Xu, Q., et al., Preparation of monodisperse biodegradable polymer microparticles using a microfluidic flow-focusing device for controlled drug delivery. Small, 2009. **5**(13) p. 1575-1581.
- 48. Yang, Y.-Y., Chia, H.-H., and Chung, T.-S., *Effect of preparation temperature on the characteristics and release profiles of PLGA microspheres containing protein fabricated by double-emulsion solvent extraction/evaporation method.* Journal of Controlled Release, 2000. **69**(1) p. 81-96.
- 49. Jeong, Y.-I., *et al.*, *Preparation of poly(dl-lactide-co-glycolide) microspheres encapsulating all-trans retinoic acid.* International Journal of Pharmaceutics, 2003. **259**(1) p. 79-91.
- 50. Yen, S.-Y., et al., Controlled release of nalbuphine propionate from biodegradable microspheres: in vitro and in vivo studies. International Journal of Pharmaceutics, 2001. **220**(1) p. 91-99.
- 51. Burgess, D. J., et al., Assuring quality and performance of sustained and controlled release parenterals: Workshop report. AAPS PharmSci, 2002. **4**(2) p. 13-23.
- 52. Kinget, R., Bontinck, A.-M., and Herbots, H., *Problems of dialysis techniques in the study of macromolecule binding of drugs*. International Journal of Pharmaceutics, 1979. **3**(2) p. 65-72.
- 53. Xu, X., Khan, M. A., and Burgess, D. J., *A two-stage reverse dialysis in vitro dissolution testing method for passive targeted liposomes.* Int J Pharm, 2012. **426**(1-2) p. 211-218.
- 54. Washington, C., *Drug release from microdisperse systems: a critical review*. International Journal of Pharmaceutics, 1990. **58**(1) p. 1-12.
- 55. Aubert-Pouëssel, A., et al., A Novel in Vitro Delivery System for Assessing the Biological Integrity of Protein upon Release from PLGA Microspheres. Pharmaceutical Research, 2002. **19**(7) p. 1046-1051.
- 56. Zolnik, B., Raton, J. L., and Burgess, D., *Application of USP Apparatus 4 and In Situ Fiber Optic Analysis to Microsphere Release Testing*. Vol. 12. 2005.
- 57. Bhardwaj, U. and Burgess, D. J., *A novel USP apparatus 4 based release testing method for dispersed systems*. Int J Pharm, 2010. **388**(1-2) p. 287-294.

- 58. Wagenaar, B. W. and Müller, B. W., *Piroxicam release from spray-dried biodegradable microspheres*. Biomaterials, 1994. **15**(1) p. 49-54.
- 59. Conti, B., et al., Testing of "In Vitro" Dissolution Behaviour of Microparticulate Drug Delivery Systems. Drug Development and Industrial Pharmacy, 1995. **21**(10) p. 1223-1233.
- 60. Shen, J. and Burgess, D. J., *Accelerated in-vitro release testing methods for extendedrelease parenteral dosage forms.* Journal of Pharmacy and Pharmacology, 2012. **64**(7) p. 986-996.
- 61. Shen, J., et al., A reproducible accelerated in vitro release testing method for PLGA microspheres. Int J Pharm, 2016. **498**(1-2) p. 274-282.
- 62. Zolnik, B. S. and Burgess, D. J., *Effect of acidic pH on PLGA microsphere degradation and release*. Journal of Controlled Release, 2007. **122**(3) p. 338-344.
- 63. Makino, K., Ohshima, H., and Kondo, T., *Mechanism of hydrolytic degradation of poly(L-lactide) microcapsules: effects of pH, ionic strength and buffer concentration.* Journal of Microencapsulation, 1986. **3**(3) p. 203-212.
- 64. Tomic, I., et al., Setting accelerated dissolution test for PLGA microspheres containing peptide, investigation of critical parameters affecting drug release rate and mechanism. International Journal of Pharmaceutics, 2016. **505**(1) p. 42-51.
- 65. Janas, C., *et al.*, *The dispersion releaser technology is an effective method for testing drug release from nanosized drug carriers*. European Journal of Pharmaceutics and Biopharmaceutics, 2017. **115** p. 73-83.
- 66. Klein, S. and Shah, V. P., *A standardized mini paddle apparatus as an alternative to the standard paddle*. AAPS PharmSciTech, 2008. **9**(4) p. 1179-1184.
- 67. Jung, F., et al., A comparison of two biorelevant in vitro drug release methods for nanotherapeutics based on advanced physiologically-based pharmacokinetic modelling. European Journal of Pharmaceutics and Biopharmaceutics, 2018. **127** p. 462-470.
- 68. Sun, X., et al., Poly(Lactic-co-Glycolic Acid): Applications and Future Prospects for Periodontal Tissue Regeneration. Polymers, 2017. 9(6).

- 69. Wu, X. S. and Wang, N., Synthesis, characterization, biodegradation, and drug delivery application of biodegradable lactic/glycolic acid polymers. Part II: Biodegradation. Journal of Biomaterials Science, Polymer Edition, 2001. **12**(1) p. 21-34.
- 70. Frank, A., Rath, S. K., and Venkatraman, S. S., *Controlled release from bioerodible polymers: effect of drug type and polymer composition*. Journal of Controlled Release, 2005. **102**(2) p. 333-344.
- 71. Xu, Y., et al., Polymer degradation and drug delivery in PLGA-based drug-polymer applications: A review of experiments and theories. Journal of Biomedical Materials Research Part B: Applied Biomaterials, 2017. **105**(6) p. 1692-1716.
- 72. Alexis, F., *Factors affecting the degradation and drug-release mechanism of poly(lactic acid) and poly[(lactic acid)-co-(glycolic acid)]*. Polymer International, 2005. **54**(1) p. 36-46.
- 73. Zilberman, M. and Grinberg, O., *HRP-Loaded Bioresorbable Microspheres: Effect of Copolymer Composition and Molecular Weight on Microstructure and Release Profile.* Journal of Biomaterials Applications, 2007. **22**(5) p. 391-407.
- 74. Fredenberg, S., *et al.*, *The mechanisms of drug release in poly(lactic-co-glycolic acid)*based drug delivery systems--a review. Int J Pharm, 2011. **415**(1-2) p. 34-52.
- 75. Cabezas, L. I., et al., Validation of a Mathematical Model for the Description of Hydrophilic and Hydrophobic Drug Delivery from Biodegradable Foams: Experimental and Comparison Using Indomethacin as Released Drug. Industrial & Engineering Chemistry Research, 2014. **53**(21) p. 8866-8873.
- 76. Klose, D., *et al.*, *PLGA-based drug delivery systems: importance of the type of drug and device geometry.* International journal of pharmaceutics, 2008. **354**(1-2) p. 95-103.
- 77. Miyajima, M., *et al.*, *Factors influencing the diffusion-controlled release of papaverine from poly (l-lactic acid) matrix.* Journal of Controlled Release, 1998. **56**(1) p. 85-94.
- 78. Jain, R. A., *The manufacturing techniques of various drug loaded biodegradable poly(lactide-co-glycolide) (PLGA) devices.* Biomaterials, 2000. **21**(23) p. 2475-2490.

- 79. Ghaderi, R., Sturesson, C., and Carlfors, J., *Effect of preparative parameters on the characteristics of poly d,l-lactide-co-glycolide)microspheres made by the double emulsion method.* International Journal of Pharmaceutics, 1996. **141**(1) p. 205-216.
- 80. Klose, D., et al., How porosity and size affect the drug release mechanisms from PLGAbased microparticles. International Journal of Pharmaceutics, 2006. **314**(2) p. 198-206.
- 81. Ryu, W., et al., Biodegradable micro-osmotic pump for long-term and controlled release of basic fibroblast growth factor. J Control Release, 2007. **124**(1-2) p. 98-105.
- 82. Iyer, S. S., Barr, W. H., and Karnes, H. T., *Profiling in vitro drug release from* subcutaneous implants: a review of current status and potential implications on drug product development. Biopharmaceutics & Drug Disposition, 2006. **27**(4) p. 157-170.
- 83. Eke, P. I., et al., Update on Prevalence of Periodontitis in Adults in the United States: NHANES 2009 to 2012. J Periodontol, 2015. **86**(5) p. 611-622.
- 84. Darveau, R. P., *Periodontitis: a polymicrobial disruption of host homeostasis.* Nature Reviews Microbiology, 2010. **8** p. 481.
- 85. Highfield, J., *Diagnosis and classification of periodontal disease*. Australian Dental Journal, 2009. **54**(s1) p. S11-S26.
- 86. Bosshardt, D. D., *The periodontal pocket: pathogenesis, histopathology and consequences.* Periodontology 2000, 2018. **76**(1) p. 43-50.
- 87. Mann Jr, W. V., *The Correlation of Gingivitis Pocket Depth and Exudate from the Gingival Crevice*. The Journal of Periodontology, 1963. **34**(4) p. 379-387.
- 88. Brill, N., *Gingival Conditions Related to Flow of Tissue Fluid Into Gingival Pockets*. Acta Odontologica Scandinavica, 1960. **18**(4) p. 421-446.
- 89. Griffiths, G. S., *Formation, collection and significance of gingival crevice fluid.* Periodontology 2000, 2003. **31**(1) p. 32-42.
- 90. Goodson, J. M., *Gingival crevice fluid flow*. Periodontology 2000, 2003. **31**(1) p. 43-54.

- 91. Barros, S. P., *et al.*, *Gingival crevicular fluid as a source of biomarkers for periodontitis*. Periodontology 2000, 2016. **70**(1) p. 53-64.
- 92. Kopytynska-Kasperczyk, A., et al., Local delivery system of doxycycline hyclate based on epsilon-caprolactone copolymers for periodontitis treatment. Int J Pharm, 2015. **491**(1-2) p. 335-344.
- 93. Krayer, J. W., Leite, R. S., and Kirkwood, K. L., *Non-surgical chemotherapeutic treatment strategies for the management of periodontal diseases.* Dent Clin North Am, 2010. **54**(1) p. 13-33.
- 94. Chi, M., et al., Novel Bioactive and Therapeutic Dental Polymeric Materials to Inhibit Periodontal Pathogens and Biofilms. Int J Mol Sci, 2019. **20**(2).
- 95. Nair, S. C. and Anoop, K. R., *Intraperiodontal pocket: An ideal route for local antimicrobial drug delivery*. Journal of advanced pharmaceutical technology & research, 2012. **3**(1) p. 9-15.
- 96. Jones, A. A., et al., Clinical and Microbiological Effects of Controlled-Release Locally Delivered Minocycline in Periodontitis. Journal of Periodontology, 1994. **65**(11) p. 1058-1066.
- 97. Pandit, N., et al., Comparative evaluation of locally delivered minocycline and metronidazole in the treatment of periodontitis. Contemp Clin Dent, 2013. **4**(1) p. 48-53.
- 98. National Center for Biotechnology Information. PubChem Compound Database; *CID*=54685925, <u>https://pubchem.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/compound/54685925</u> (accessed Mar. 4, 2019).
- 99. Arias, K., et al., Minocycline and tigecycline form higher-order Ca2+ complexes of stronger affinity than tetracycline. Inorganica Chimica Acta, 2016. **441** p. 181-191.
- 100. Pawełczyk, E. and Matlak, B., *Kinetics of drug decomposition. Part 74. Kinetics of degradation of minocycline in aqueous solution.* Vol. 34. 1982. 409-421.
- Paquette, D. W., *Minocycline microspheres: a complementary medical-mechanical model* for the treatment of chronic periodontitis. Compend Contin Educ Dent, 2002. 23(5 Suppl) p. 15-21.

- 102. Ashokraj, Y., et al., Discriminatory Dissolution Method Development and Validation of *Etoricoxib Tablets*. Vol. 23. 2016. 30-34.
- 103. USP-NF Minocycline Periodontal System.
- 104. Tariq, M., et al., Treatment modalities and evaluation models for periodontitis. International journal of pharmaceutical investigation, 2012. **2**(3) p. 106-122.
- 105. Bang, J., et al., Sodium, potassium and calcium contents of crevicular exudate: their relations to gingivitis and periodontitis. J Periodontol, 1973. 44(12) p. 770-774.
- 106. Bickel, M. and Cimasoni, G., *The pH of human crevicular fluid measured by a new microanalytical technique*. 1985. **20**(1) p. 35-40.
- 107. Hazot Y, Malinov T, Gazal E, Keynan R, Margulis L, et al. (2017) Topical Oleaginous Minocycline Foam: Efficacious Delivery into Skin Layers. J Anal Pharm Res 4(5): 00117. DOI: 10.15406/japlr.2017.04.00117.
- 108. Matos, A. C., Pinto, R. V., and Bettencourt, A. F., *Easy-Assessment of Levofloxacin and Minocycline in Relevant Biomimetic Media by HPLC–UV Analysis.* Journal of Chromatographic Science, 2017. **55**(7) p. 757-765.
- 109. Voisine, J. M., Zolnik, B. S., and Burgess, D. J., *In situ fiber optic method for long-term in vitro release testing of microspheres*. International Journal of Pharmaceutics, 2008. 356(1) p. 206-211.
- IUPAC. Compendium of Chemical Terminology, 2nd ed. (the "Gold Book"). Compiled by A. D. McNaught and A. Wilkinson. Blackwell Scientific Publications, Oxford (1997). XML on-line corrected version: <u>http://goldbook.iupac.org</u> (2006-) created by M. Nic, J. Jirat, B. Kosata; updates compiled by A. Jenkins. ISBN 0-9678550-9-8. <u>https://doi.org/10.1351/goldbook</u>.
- 111. United States Pharmacopeia and National Formulary (USP 41-NF 36). Aspirin Tablets. Rockville, MD: United States Pharmacopeial Convention; 2016. <u>https://online.uspnf.com/uspnf/document/GUID-AC788D41-90A2-4F36-A6E7-769954A9ED09\_1\_en-US</u>.
- 112. Pernarowski, M., Searl, R. O., and Naylor, J., Application of absorbance ratios to analysis of pharmaceuticals V: Analysis of Tetracycline hydrochloride in presence of

*anhydrotetracycline and epianhydrotetracycline*. Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences, 1969. **58**(4) p. 470-472.

- Yang, Z., et al., Development and Evaluation of Minocycline Hydrochloride-Loaded In Situ Cubic Liquid Crystal for Intra-Periodontal Pocket Administration. Molecules (Basel, Switzerland), 2018. 23(9) p. 2275.
- Pakulska, M. M., et al., Encapsulation-free controlled release: Electrostatic adsorption eliminates the need for protein encapsulation in PLGA nanoparticles. Science Advances, 2016. 2(5) p. e1600519.
- 115. Han, U., Seo, Y., and Hong, J., *Effect of pH on the structure and drug release profiles of layer-by-layer assembled films containing polyelectrolyte, micelles, and graphene oxide.* Scientific Reports, 2016. **6** p. 24158.
- 116. Cho, Y., Lee, J. B., and Hong, J., *Controlled release of an anti-cancer drug from DNA structured nano-films*. Scientific Reports, 2014. **4** p. 4078.
- 117. Zolnik, B. S., Leary, P. E., and Burgess, D. J., *Elevated temperature accelerated release testing of PLGA microspheres.* Journal of Controlled Release, 2006. **112**(3) p. 293-300.
- 118. Rawat, A., et al., Validation of USP apparatus 4 method for microsphere in vitro release testing using Risperdal Consta. Int J Pharm, 2011. **420**(2) p. 198-205.
- 119. Xu, X., Khan, M. A., and Burgess, D. J., *A two-stage reverse dialysis in vitro dissolution testing method for passive targeted liposomes.* International Journal of Pharmaceutics, 2012. **426**(1) p. 211-218.
- 120. Williams, R. C., et al., Treatment of Periodontitis by Local Administration of Minocycline Microspheres: A Controlled Trial. Journal of Periodontology, 2001. 72(11) p. 1535-1544.
- 121. Nastruzzi, C., et al., Kinetics of bromocriptine release from microspheres: Comparative analysis between different in vitro models. Journal of Microencapsulation, 1994. **11**(5) p. 565-574.
- 122. Savaser, A., et al., Chapter 3 Current perspectives on drug release studies from polymeric nanoparticles, in Organic Materials as Smart Nanocarriers for Drug Delivery, Grumezescu, A. M., Editor. 2018, William Andrew Publishing. p. 101-145.

- 123. Vyslouzil, J., et al., Influence of different formulations and process parameters during the preparation of drug-loaded PLGA microspheres evaluated by multivariate data analysis. Acta Pharm, 2014. **64**(4) p. 403-417.
- 124. Makadia, H. K. and Siegel, S. J., *Poly Lactic-co-Glycolic Acid (PLGA) as Biodegradable Controlled Drug Delivery Carrier*. Polymers, 2011. **3**(3).
- 125. Ji, Y., et al., Thermo-activated persulfate oxidation system for tetracycline antibiotics degradation in aqueous solution. Vol. 298. 2016. 233.
- 126. Balmert, S. C., *et al.*, *Positive charge of "sticky" peptides and proteins impedes release from negatively charged PLGA matrices*. Journal of Materials Chemistry B, 2015. **3**(23) p. 4723-4734.
- 127. Chan, C. C., et al., Analytical Method Validation and Instrument Performance Verification. 2004: Wiley.
- Grammen, C., et al., The Use of Supersaturation for the Vaginal Application of Microbicides: A Case Study with Dapivirine. Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences, 2014. 103(11) p. 3696-3703.